Published for SISSA by 2 Springer

RECEIVED: July 20, 2017 REVISED: November 12, 2017 ACCEPTED: January 7, 2018 PUBLISHED: January 16, 2018

Inverse bootstrapping conformal field theories

Wenliang Li

Department of Physics and Research Institute of Basic Science, Kyung Hee University, Seoul 02447, Korea

E-mail: lii.wenliang@gmail.com

ABSTRACT: We propose a novel approach to study conformal field theories (CFTs) in general dimensions. In the conformal bootstrap program, one usually searches for consistent CFT data that satisfy crossing symmetry. In the new method, we reverse the logic and interpret manifestly crossing-symmetric functions as generating functions of conformal data. Physical CFTs can be obtained by scanning the space of crossing-symmetric functions. By truncating the fusion rules, we are able to concentrate on the low-lying operators and derive some approximate relations for their conformal data. It turns out that the free scalar theory, the 2d minimal model CFTs, the ϕ^4 Wilson-Fisher CFT, the Lee-Yang CFTs and the Ising CFTs are consistent with the universal relations from the minimal fusion rule $\phi_1 \times \phi_1 = I + \phi_2 + T$, where ϕ_1 , ϕ_2 are scalar operators, I is the identity operator and Tis the stress tensor.

KEYWORDS: Conformal Field Theory, Effective Field Theories

ARXIV EPRINT: 1706.04054



Contents

I Introduction					
Inverse bootstrapping method	4				
2.1 Crossing symmetric functions	4				
2.2 Truncating the fusion rules	9				
2.3 Toy example: $\phi_1 \times \phi_1 = I + \phi_2$	14				
2d minimal model CFTs	16				
3.1 Minimal fusion rule: $\phi_1 \times \phi_1 = I + \phi_2 + T$	20				
3.2 Operator decoupling	22				
3.2.1 2d Lee-Yang CFT	22				
3.2.2 2d Ising CFT	23				
CFTs in various dimensions	2 4				
4.1 Minimal fusion rule: $\phi_1 \times \phi_1 = I + \phi_2 + T$	25				
4.2 Canonical free scalar theory	27				
4.3 ϕ^{2n} Wilson-Fisher CFTs	28				
4.4 Lee-Yang CFTs in $d = 2, 3, 4, 5$ dimensions	29				
4.5 Ising CFTs in $d = 2, 3$ dimensions	31				
Discussion	31				
Series expansion of conformal blocks	3 4				
	Introduction Inverse bootstrapping method 2.1 Crossing symmetric functions 2.2 Truncating the fusion rules 2.3 Toy example: $\phi_1 \times \phi_1 = I + \phi_2$ 2d minimal model CFTs 3.1 Minimal fusion rule: $\phi_1 \times \phi_1 = I + \phi_2 + T$ 3.2 Operator decoupling 3.2.1 2d Lee-Yang CFT 3.2.2 2d Ising CFT CFTs in various dimensions 4.1 Minimal fusion rule: $\phi_1 \times \phi_1 = I + \phi_2 + T$ 4.2 Canonical free scalar theory 4.3 ϕ^{2n} Wilson-Fisher CFTs 4.4 Lee-Yang CFTs in $d = 2, 3, 4, 5$ dimensions 4.5 Ising CFTs in $d = 2, 3$ dimensions Discussion Series expansion of conformal blocks				

1 Introduction

Conformal field theories (CFTs) in general dimensions are quantum field theories that are invariant under global conformal transformations. They play an important role in various areas of theoretical physics, from critical phenomena to high energy physics.

A CFT is characterized by correlation functions of its local operators. The spectral data of the local operators are their scaling dimensions and representations of the rotation group. The primary operators correspond to the lowest states of the dilation operator. By acting with the momentum operator, we obtain the descendant operators of higher scaling dimensions. Usually, a local operator is a linear combination of primaries and descendants. The Operator Product Expansion (OPE) of two local operators reads

$$\mathcal{O}_i(x) \,\mathcal{O}_j(0) = \sum_k C'_{ijk}(x, \,\partial_y) \,\mathcal{O}_k(y), \tag{1.1}$$

where k runs over the primary operators and $\partial_y^n \mathcal{O}_k(y)$ are the descendants. The power series $C'_{ijk}(x, \partial_y)$ in ∂_y are determined by conformal invariance up to some multiplicative factors C_{ijk} called OPE coefficients or structure constants of the operator algebra.¹ The normalized two-point functions of the primary operators are fixed by conformal symmetry, while the three-point functions are determined by conformal invariance up to the OPE coefficients. By operator product expansions, n-point functions reduce to sums of (n-1)point functions. Therefore, all the information of the correlation functions of the local operators is encoded in the spectral data and the OPE coefficients, which are called the CFT data.

The OPE algebra is associative because correlation functions are independent of how the operator product expansions are performed. In the conformal bootstrap program [1-3], OPE associativity is promoted to a dynamical principle. This non-perturbative approach is not based on the Lagrangian or Hamiltonian formalism. Instead, one attempts to solve conformal field theories using only the consistency conditions from the OPE associativity, together with some physical assumptions, such as unitarity or fusion rules. In the case of four-point functions, the non-trivial consistency conditions for the CFT data are the equivalence of three possible OPE channels. They are also called crossing equations.

In 2d, the global conformal symmetry is extended to the infinite dimensional Virasoro symmetry. Exact solutions can be obtained when the number of Virasoro primaries is finite. In particular, the exact solutions of the 2d minimal model CFTs [3] are among the most important applications of the conformal bootstrap program.

In the modern numerical bootstrap approach [4] (see [5]–[56] for later developments), significant progress has been made in determining the low-lying CFT data of various CFTs. By studying the crossing equations geometrically, the possible solution regions are bounded by the positivity constraints from unitarity. As a prominent example, the 3d Ising CFT does not have an exact solution yet, but its low-lying CFT data can be determined to high precision, as the relevant parameter space of the lowest scalars is confined to a small isolated region by considering a set of four-point functions [24, 31, 43]. Although unprecedented precision has been achieved, the CFT data of high spin and large scaling dimension operators remain unknown.

It is important that the infinite number of subleading operators are irrelevant to the achieved precision. This indicates that the CFT data of these low-lying operators already provide a successful approximation of the 3d Ising CFT which is consistent with crossing symmetry. It reminds us of the spirit of Effective Field Theory, where the effective description is insensitive to the operators beyond the cutoff. In the context of AdS/CFT [57–59], the effective description of a boundary CFT is related to the decoupling of heavy massive states in the bulk [60].²

The success of the modern numerical bootstrap approach is a surprise,³ as crossing symmetry is expected to relate one low-lying operator to an infinite number of fast spinning operators of large scaling dimensions. For example, in the analytic bootstrap approach, some general properties of the high spin spectrum can be deduced from the light-cone limits

¹If there is more than one possible tensor structure, C_{ijk} is a set of numbers.

 $^{^{2}}$ Note that we do not assume all CFTs have bulk dual theories.

 $^{^{3}}$ A plausible explanation is that the conformal block expansion converges exponentially fast in the Euclidean regime [61, 62].

of the crossing equations [63, 64].⁴ On the contrary, the developments in the numerical approaches indicate that crossing symmetry also gives surprisingly strong constraints on the low-lying CFT data themselves.

To understand this surprise, we want to investigate two questions:

- How much are the low-lying CFT data constrained by crossing symmetry?
- When does a truncated spectrum provide a consistent, effective description?

These two questions are related and overlapping. On the one hand, the CFT data of the low-lying spectrum are heavily constrained by crossing symmetry when the crossing equations are approximately solved by the low-lying spectrum. On the other hand, if a truncated spectrum almost solves the crossing equations, then the CFT data of the operators above the cutoff can only induce small perturbations of the low-lying CFT data, and their OPE coefficients should be much smaller than those of the low-lying operators. Therefore, the essential point is whether the low-lying/truncated CFT data approximately solve the crossing equations.⁵

To solve the crossing equations, the standard way in the modern bootstrap approach is to expand the equations around the crossing symmetric point u = v = 1/4. In this work, we will solve the crossing equations in a different manner. Instead of expanding the crossing equations, we will directly construct the crossing solutions using explicitly crossingsymmetric functions. We would like to call this approach "inverse conformal bootstrap".

To proceed further, we will propose a truncation ansatz. In this truncation framework, we can concentrate on a few low-lying operators and derive some relations for the CFT data of the truncated spectrum. This truncation ansatz is in spirit analogous to the Shifman-Vainshtein-Zakharov sum rules in QCD [75, 76]. In this work, we will focus on the minimal fusion rule of two identical scalar operators⁶

$$\phi_1 \times \phi_1 = I + \phi_2 + T, \tag{1.3}$$

where ϕ_1 , ϕ_2 are scalar primary operators, I is the identity operator and T is the stress tensor.⁷ We assume there is one relevant operator in the original fusion rule and it is a scalar.⁸ We also consider longer fusion rules for 2d CFTs to capture the decoupling of subleading operators.

⁶The crudest fusion rule is given by

$$\phi_1 \times \phi_1 = I + \phi_2. \tag{1.2}$$

 $^{^{4}}$ See [53, 65–74] for more results along the lines of large spin expansions.

 $^{^{5}}$ The observation that the numerical unitary bounds are converging and almost saturated by the 2d minimal models and the 3d Ising CFT indicates the crossing equations are approximately solved by the truncated spectra of these physical CFTs, which is related to the extremal functional method [7, 15, 20, 52, 53].

In section 2.3, this truncated OPE will be discussed in detail as the simplest example of our truncation ansatz.

⁷The idea of solving the crossing equations by a severely truncated fusion rule was first proposed by Gliozzi [77]. See [78-82] also for some later results.

⁸It is also possible that there is no relevant operator, which was examined in the 2d CFTs in [82].

Using the truncation ansatz, the OPE coefficients P_2 , P_T are approximated by some rational functions of the scaling dimensions Δ_1 , Δ_2 and the spacetime dimension d. Interestingly, it turns out many physical CFTs are consistent with the same equations, so these relations are universal! This phenomenon echoes the emergence of universality in low energy physics as the effective description is insensitive to the microscopic details.

The paper is organized as follows.

In section 2, we describe our inverse approach to the conformal bootstrap program and a natural truncation ansatz arising from this perspective. The general truncation procedure is illustrated by a toy example.

In section 3, we apply the truncation framework to the conformal field theories in two dimensions. We focus on the 2d minimal models where the exact expressions of the 4-point functions are known, so we can compare our estimates of the OPE coefficients with the exact values. We also show how one can identify the 2d Lee-Yang CFT and the 2d Ising CFT in the truncation framework based on the phenomenon of operator decoupling.

In section 4, we consider conformal field theories in general dimensions. In contrast to section 3, we assume the presence of twist gaps. After deriving the approximate equations of the OPE coefficients, we examine several physical CFTs in various dimensions and show the universal equations are consistent with the well-established results.

In section 5, we further discuss our results and propose some directions for future investigations.

2 Inverse bootstrapping method

In the quantum inverse scattering method [83], one begins with the solutions of a nontrivial consistency condition, i.e. the Yang-Baxter equation [84, 85]. Analogously, in the inverse bootstrapping method, we will start from the solutions of a non-trivial consistency condition, namely the crossing equation (2.1) to be defined below.⁹ The CFT data can be directly deduced from a given crossing symmetric function. By working at the level of the solution space, the inverse perspective provides us with a natural truncation ansatz obeying the crossing equation (2.1).

2.1 Crossing symmetric functions

In Polyakov's original paper on the conformal bootstrap [2], he devised an alternative approach¹⁰ which was less explored compared to the standard one. In this approach, one starts from some explicitly crossing-symmetric building blocks which however contain unphysical logarithmic terms. Then physical operator product expansions require some consistency conditions so that the logarithmic terms cancel out, leading to constraints on the CFT data. As an example, Polyakov reproduced the lowest order anomalous dimensions of the Wilson-Fisher fixed point in $d = 4 - \epsilon$ dimensions.

 $^{^9 \}mathrm{See}$ also the recent works [86–88] which study the systematic constructions of crossing symmetric solutions.

¹⁰This approach was revisited and extended in the recent works [89–92].

The idea of our inverse approach is similar to Polyakov's alternative method, but we use some information of the general structure of conformal blocks, so our crossing-symmetric building blocks are compatible with operator product expansions. The starting point is the non-trivial crossing equation

$$v^{\Delta} G(u, v) = u^{\Delta} G(v, u), \qquad (2.1)$$

where G(u, v) is the conformal invariant part of the four-point function of identical scalar operators

$$\langle \phi(x_1) \phi(x_2) \phi(x_3) \phi(x_4) \rangle = \frac{1}{(x_{12}^2 x_{34}^2)^{\Delta}} G(u, v),$$
 (2.2)

the conformal invariant cross-ratios are defined as

$$u = \frac{x_{12}^2 x_{34}^2}{x_{13}^2 x_{24}^2}, \quad v = \frac{x_{14}^2 x_{23}^2}{x_{13}^2 x_{24}^2},$$
(2.3)

and Δ is the scaling dimension of the external scalar operator ϕ^{11}

Let us introduce a two-variable function

$$H(u,v) = v^{\Delta} G(u,v).$$
(2.5)

The crossing equation (2.1) indicates H(u, v) is a symmetric function of u and v.

If H(u, v) is a symmetric polynomial function, it can be decomposed into

$$H(u,v) = \sum_{m,n=0}^{\infty} c^{m,n} \left(u^m v^n + u^n v^m \right), \quad m \le n,$$
(2.6)

where the crossing symmetric building blocks are

$$u^m v^n + u^n v^m. aga{2.7}$$

For example, in 4d free CFTs, the 4-point function of the canonical scalar corresponds to

$$H_{\rm 4d\ free}(u,v) = v(1+u+u/v) = uv + (u+v).$$
(2.8)

In general, H(u, v) is not necessarily a polynomial function. For instance, in the 2d Ising CFT, the four point function of the spin operator corresponds to

$$H_{2d \text{ Ising}}(u, v) = \frac{\sqrt{1 + \sqrt{u} + \sqrt{v}}}{\sqrt{2}}.$$
 (2.9)

If we expand H(u, v) around u = v = 0, the crossing symmetric building blocks are

$$u^m v^n + u^n v^m, \qquad u^{1/2+m} v^n + u^n v^{1/2+m},$$
(2.10)

$$G(u, v) = G(u/v, 1/v).$$
 (2.4)

¹¹There is another crossing equation

Since we only consider four-point functions of identical scalar operators, the second crossing equation (2.4) is solved if all the exchanged operators have even spins. We focus on the first crossing equation (2.1) in this work.

where the exponents are extended to rational numbers. The half-integer exponents 1/2+m have clear physical interpretation in the operator product expansions: they are related to the twists of the exchanged operators. To see their physical interpretation, we need to examine the series expansion of conformal blocks (see appendix A for more details), which reads

$$F_{\tau,l}(u, v) = u^{\tau/2} (1-v)^l [1 + \mathcal{O}(1-v)] + \mathcal{O}(u^{\tau/2+1}), \qquad (2.11)$$

where τ , l are the twist and the spin of the exchanged primary operator.¹² From the general structure of the series expansion, we know the exponents of the symmetric power functions are given by $\tau/2 + m$.

In the 2d Ising CFT, the four-point function of the spin operator is a linear combination of two Virasoro conformal blocks, corresponding to the identity operator and the energy operator. We can decompose the Virasoro block of the energy operator into global blocks. One can check that the twists of the low spin primary operators are precisely $\tau = 1$, which explains the presence of 1/2 in the exponents. Note that, in a generic CFT, the twists of primary operators are not restricted to rational numbers. Furthermore, in a non-unitary CFT, the twists can also violate the unitary bounds.

In (generalized) free CFTs and 2d Minimal models, where exact expressions of the 4point functions are known, we can explicitly decompose H(u, v) into the crossing symmetric building blocks

$$u^{\tau/2+m}v^{\tau'/2+n} + u^{\tau'/2+n}v^{\tau/2+m}, \qquad (2.13)$$

where τ , τ' are the twists of the exchanged primary operators.¹³

As a working assumption, we assume H(u, v) can be decomposed into the crossing symmetric building blocks (2.13). It not clear what are the necessary conditions for the existence of this series representation. This issue was also discussed in [69].

If we expand the symmetric function H(u, v) by a smooth deformation parameter, up to some subtleties of potential infinite sums, we should obtain symmetric polynomials of log u, log v at each order. In addition, the degrees of the polynomials should match with the expansion orders. In [69], Alday and Zhiboedov conjectured that this is always the case in the four-point functions in weakly coupled CFTs, where the deformation parameters correspond to some small coupling constants. As test examples, they checked the four-point function of identical half BPS scalars in $\mathcal{N} = 4$ supersymmetric Yang-Mills theory [93, 94] to two-loop order and the correlators of Konishi operators [95] to one-loop order.

In the ϵ -expansion, we have a different deformation parameter. In the ϕ^4 Wilson-Fisher CFT, the parameter is $\epsilon = 4 - d$ and the zeroth order expression is given by (2.8). We expect and check that the first order correction should be a degree-1 polynomial in log u

$$\Delta = \tau + l. \tag{2.12}$$

¹²The scaling dimension of the exchanged primary operator is

For scalar operators, the twists are equal to the scaling dimensions. In this work, we use twists as the independent spectral parameters, instead of scaling dimensions.

¹³When the external scalars are different, the crossing symmetric building blocks are not necessarily symmetric functions, as the exchanged operators in s- and t- channels may be different.

and $\log v$

$$\left[h_1(u,v)\log u + h_2(u,v)\log u\log v + (u\leftrightarrow v)\right]\epsilon,$$
(2.14)

where the classic results in [96] are used.^{14,15}

The Mellin representation of H(u, v) is a contour integral of $u^s v^t \mathcal{M}(s, t)$, where $\mathcal{M}(s, t)$ is the Mellin amplitude up to some normalization convention. We expect in the Mellin space the crossing equation (2.1) translates into the requirement that poles are crossingsymmetric in s- and t- channels. A celebrated example of crossing symmetric pole structure is the Veneziano amplitude [97] involving the Gamma function. In 2d CFTs, one finds that the Mellin amplitudes¹⁶ of the 2d Ising CFT and the 2d Lee-Yang CFT are also given by products of Gamma functions with rational poles symmetric in the s- and t- channels [69]. Furthermore, a recent work [99] on the holographic 4-point functions of half BPS operators in Type-IIB supergravity on $AdS_5 \times S^5$ shows that, in the case of identical operators, a simple Mellin amplitude with manifestly crossing-symmetric poles can reproduce the previous explicit results in [100–103]. The formulation of the bootstrap ansatz in [99] is similar to our inverse bootstrap perspective.

In fact, in [103], which is based on the position space, the general 4-point functions are directly constructed from a finite number of crossing symmetric building blocks. In some sense, our inverse bootstrap ansatz (see the precise formulation in (2.17)) is a non-supersymmetric generalization of the ansatz in [103]. To proceed further, we will introduce a truncation procedure so that the less symmetric CFTs become finite-dimensional problems as well.

The free correlators are clearly linear combinations of the crossing symmetric building blocks (2.13). We argue that if some interacting CFTs are connected to free theories by smooth, continuous deformations, H(u, v) should also allow an expansion in terms of the crossing symmetric building blocks (2.13)

$$H(u,v) = \sum_{i,j} \sum_{m,n=0}^{\infty} c_{i,j}^{m,n} \left(u^{\tau_i/2+m} v^{\tau_j/2+n} + u^{\tau_j/2+n} v^{\tau_i/2+m} \right),$$
(2.15)

where τ_i runs over the twist spectrum from low to high twists and the indices run over two possibilities

$$i < j, \quad \text{or} \quad i = j, \quad m \le n.$$
 (2.16)

If i = j and m = n, the summand has only one term to avoid over-counting.

A concise, equivalent representation of (2.15) is

$$H(u,v) = \sum_{i,j} \sum_{m,n=0}^{\infty} c_{i,j}^{m,n} u^{\tau_i/2+m} v^{\tau_j/2+n}, \qquad (2.17)$$

¹⁴Note that $h_1(u, v)$ and $h_2(u, v)$ are power series of u, v. We only verified (2.14) to a few orders. In principle, (2.14) can be proved using the closed form expression of the scalar conformal block.

¹⁵A more non-trivial check would be the ϵ^2 order terms which can be done using the second order correction to the OPE coefficients recently obtained in [90, 91].

¹⁶The use of Mellin transform in the context of CFTs was initiated in [98].

where the crossing equation (2.1) requires

$$c_{i,j}^{m,n} = c_{j,i}^{n,m}. (2.18)$$

If the twist spectrum is discrete and bounded from below, then one can reconstruct the series order by order. Note that we do not assume unitarity.

Let us first consider the limit $u \ll 1$ but v fixed at a finite value. From the schannel OPE expansion, we can identify the minimal twist τ_1 from the leading asymptotic behavior of $H(u,v) \sim u^{\tau_1/2} f_1(v)$. The second lowest twist can be determined from the leading asymptotic behavior of $H(u,v) - u^{\tau_1/2} f_1(v) \sim u^{\tau_2/2} f_2(v)$. In principle, we can recover the twist spectrum by repeating this procedure. Note some of them are the twists of the descendants.

From crossing symmetry, this series expansion is dominated by crossing symmetric building blocks (2.13) of small exponents. Then we can consider the limits $u \ll 1$, $v \ll 1$ to fix the coefficients $c_{i,j}^{m,n}$ of the crossing symmetric building blocks (2.13). For example, we have $f_1(v) \sim c_{1,1}^{0,0} v^{\tau_1/2}$. In principle, we can reconstruct the series expansion (2.17) order by order in the small u, v expansion.

Naively, in the lightcone limit, where $u, v \to 0$, the leading crossing-symmetric building block is $u^{\tau_{\min}/2} v^{\tau_{\min}/2}$. For instance, we have $\tau_{\min} = 0$ in the 2d Ising CFT, while $\tau_{\min} = -2/5$ in the 2d Lee-Yang CFT. However, this leading term can be absent. If the identity has the lowest twist and the twist spectrum is gapped, the leading crossing-symmetric combination becomes $u^{\tau_{\min}/2} v^{\Delta} + u^{\Delta} v^{\tau_{\min}/2}$ with $\tau_{\min} = 0$.

Now let us introduce the concept of "twist family"¹⁷

$$\{\tau_i\} := \frac{\tau_i}{2}, \ \frac{\tau_i}{2} + 1, \ \frac{\tau_i}{2} + 2, \ \frac{\tau_i}{2} + 3, \ \dots,$$
(2.19)

which generalizes the Virasoro modules in 2d CFTs and will be useful later. In H(u, v), the exponents in the form $\tau_i/2 + m$ are in the same twist family $\{\tau_i\}$. They are related to exchanged operators of twists $\tau_i + 2m$.¹⁸ In the s-channel OPE, we can identify the contributions of the exchanged operators in the same twist family with a partial sum by fixing i

$$\sum_{\tau_{\mathcal{O}} \subset \{\tau_i\}} P_{\mathcal{O}} F_{\tau_{\mathcal{O}}, l_{\mathcal{O}}}(u, v) = \sum_{m, n=0}^{\infty} u^{\tau_i/2 + m} v^n \sum_j c_{i,j}^{m, n} v^{\tau_j/2 - \Delta},$$
(2.20)

where $F_{\tau_{\mathcal{O}}, l_{\mathcal{O}}}(u, v)$ is the conformal block of the exchanged operator \mathcal{O} . These partial sums generalize the Virasoro conformal blocks in 2d CFTs.

If there is a finite number of exchanged operators in the same twist family $\{\tau_i\}$, then the left hand side contains logarithmic terms

$$u^{\tau_i/2+m} v^n \log v \tag{2.21}$$

¹⁷See [73, 74] also for the recently proposed interesting concept "twist conformal block", which is a special combination of global conformal blocks in the same twist family.

¹⁸The minimum value of the exponents in a twist family $\{\tau_i\}$ can be larger than $\tau_i/2$ if there is more than one exchanged operator with twist τ_i and the lowest order term cancels out.

from the small v asymptotic behavior of the conformal blocks. In order to reproduce the same logarithmic singularity, the right hand should contain power law singularities due to negative exponents

$$\tau_j/2 - \Delta < 0. \tag{2.22}$$

Then we can expand the power functions

$$v^{\tau_j/2-\Delta} = e^{(\tau_j/2-\Delta)\log v} = 1 + (\tau_j/2-\Delta)\log v + \mathcal{O}[(\log v)^2],$$
(2.23)

which requires an infinite number of negative exponent terms to cancel all the higher order logarithmic singularities. In particular, in unitary CFTs where the primaries obey the unitary bounds, there exist an infinite number of exchanged spinning operators \mathcal{O}_i whose anomalous dimensions satisfy

$$0 \le \gamma_i < 2\gamma_\phi, \tag{2.24}$$

where $\gamma_{\phi} = \Delta - (d-2)/2$ is the anomalous dimension of the external scalar. We have assumed only a finite number of exchanged scalar operators have scaling dimensions smaller than 2Δ . In this way, we deduce a general property of the high spin spectrum first obtained in [63, 64].

2.2 Truncating the fusion rules

For each symmetric function in the form of (2.17), we can deduce the corresponding spectrum and the OPE coefficients of the exchanged operator

$$G(u,v) = v^{-\Delta}H(u,v) = 1 + \sum_{k} P_k F_{\tau_k, l_k}(u,v).$$
(2.25)

where P_k , to be more precise, are the squares of the OPE coefficients

$$P_k = C_{\phi\phi\mathcal{O}_k}^2. \tag{2.26}$$

In principle, we can search for physical CFTs by scanning the space of crossing symmetric functions. However, to match with the conformal partial wave expansions, we need to expand v around v = 1

$$v^{\alpha} = [1 - (1 - v)]^{\alpha} = 1 - \alpha(1 - v) + \mathcal{O}[(1 - v)^{2}].$$
(2.27)

Then the high order terms also contribute to the low-lying conformal data. We need to know the exact expression of H(u, v) to obtain the exact CFT data of the low-lying operators.

In a generalized free CFT, $H^{\text{free}}(u, v)$ involves only one crossing symmetric building block and the free parameter is the scaling dimension of the external scalar operator. But in a generic interacting CFT, we have an infinite number of parameters. In some 2d CFTs, we can group the global CFT data according to a finite number of Virasoro primary operators, then the parameter spaces have finite dimensions. In general, the parameter spaces of interacting CFTs seem to be infinitely dimensional.

At the level of crossing symmetric functions, we can impose functional truncations. In other words, we can reduce the dimension of the parameter space to a finite number by restricting to the subspace of crossing symmetric functions which are constructed from a finite number of crossing symmetric building blocks (2.13). In this inverse approach, we are equipped with natural truncation schemes which are compatible with the crossing equation (2.1).

In this work, the truncation ansatz consists of three steps:

• *Step 1*:

In the first step, we truncate the physical fusion rule to a few low-lying operators

$$\phi \times \phi = I + \mathcal{O}_1 + \mathcal{O}_2 + \dots + \mathcal{O}_p, \tag{2.28}$$

so we have a finite number of exchanged primary operators. Here, we impose a cutoff and omit the primary operators of small OPE coefficients. The exponents of the crossing symmetric building blocks are grouped into a finite number of sets according to their twist families.

• *Step 2:*

Although we have truncated the fusion rules, H(u, v) still involves an infinite number of exponents. In the second step, we introduce a cutoff M for the twists. In each twist family $\{\tau_i\}_M$, the possible exponents are then limited to

$$\{\tau_i\}_M \to \frac{\tau_i}{2}, \, \frac{\tau_i+2}{2}, \, \dots, \, \frac{\tau_i+2M-2}{2}, \, \frac{\tau_i+2M}{2}.$$
 (2.29)

Now we have only a finite number of crossing symmetric building blocks from the truncated twist families $\{\tau_i\}_M$. Let us denote the number of inequivalent twist families by N

$$\{\tau_i\}_M, \text{ with } i = 1, 2, \dots, N.$$
 (2.30)

• Step 3:

In the third step, we require $G(u, v) = v^{-\Delta} H(u, v)$ reproduces the truncated fusion rule (2.28). This amounts to expanding G(u, v) around $\{u, v\} = \{0, 1\}$ and matching the series coefficients with those of the conformal blocks. For each twist family, we impose

$$u^{\tau_i/2} \sum_{m,n=0}^{M} \sum_{j=1}^{N} c_{i,j}^{m,n} u^m v^{\tau_j/2+n-\Delta} \sim \sum_{\tau_{\mathcal{O}} \subset \{\tau_i\}} P_{\mathcal{O}} F_{\tau_{\mathcal{O}},l_{\mathcal{O}}}(u,v),$$
(2.31)

where M is the twist cutoff and N is the number of twist families. Now we introduce the descendant cutoff K and the matching is valid for the low lying spectrum of the twist family $\{\tau_i\}_M$

$$\Delta \le \tau_i + K, \quad \tau \le \tau_i + 2M, \tag{2.32}$$

where the second equation is from Step 2. The descendant cutoff K can also be understood as a scaling dimension cutoff. Intuitively, we can interpret the scalar primary with scaling dimension τ_i as the higher dimensional generalization of the Virasoro scalar primary. Then a term

$$u^{\tau_i/2+m}(1-v)^l \tag{2.33}$$

is associated with a level k = 2m + l descendant with spin l and scaling dimension $\Delta_{i,k} = \tau_i + 2m + l$.

To exactly reproduce the truncated fusion rule, we need an infinite number of crossingsymmetric building blocks. Since we introduce a cutoff M to the maximum twist in the second step, the left hand side of (2.31) already miss some high-twist terms. In addition, even if we focus on the low-twist terms, the fusion rule from H(u, v) will inevitably involve additional operators with large scaling dimensions.

In technical terms, when we expand the left hand side of (2.31) around v = 1, only the low order terms can match with the right hand side, because the parameter space is now finite-dimensional. Beyond the descendant cutoff K, the series coefficients will not match, which translates into the presence of additional operators with dimensions $\Delta > \tau_i + K$. The operators beyond the descendant cutoff may be related to physical conformal multiplets with large scaling dimensions in the untruncated spectrum.

The precise matching conditions can be expressed as

$$u^{\tau_i/2} \sum_{j=0}^{N} \sum_{m,n=0}^{M} c_{i,j}^{m,n} u^m v^{\tau_j/2+n-\Delta} - \sum_{\tau_{\mathcal{O}} \subset \{\tau_i\}} P_{\mathcal{O}} F_{\tau_{\mathcal{O}},l_{\mathcal{O}}}(u,v)$$
$$= \sum_{m=0}^{M} u^{\tau_i/2+m} \mathcal{O}[(1-v)^{\max(K-2m+1,0)}] + \mathcal{O}(u^{\tau_i/2+M+1}), \quad (2.34)$$

where, in the second line, the first term is due to the descendant cutoff K and the second term is related to the twist cutoff M. We have used some information of the series expansion of spinning conformal blocks. We also use the *max* function to avoid negative exponents.

Above, we explain the general truncation procedure. Let us emphasize that we are not considering the lightcone expansion around u = v = 0. In the truncated functional space, the "effective" coefficients $c_{i,j}^{m,n}$ of the same CFT depend on the truncation cutoffs¹⁹ and they are different from those in the lightcone expansion.²⁰ The power function building blocks (2.13) are just an intuitive and efficient basis for the crossing-symmetric functions.²¹

¹⁹Although $c_{i,j}^{m,n}$ do not converge in the severe trunctions, the low-lying CFT data usually become more accurate as we introduce more primary operators and increase the twist and descendant cutoffs.

²⁰The lightcone expansion may correspond to the limit where the cutoffs are sent to infinity, in analogy to the UV fixed point of a renormalization group flow.

²¹As we will see in section 4, the results of the 2d CFTs are reasonably accurate even if we use a "wrong" basis from the perspective of the lightcone expansion. The physical CFT data are not very sensitive to the difference in the two bases. The exceptions are the OPE coefficients of the stress tensor in the 2d Lee-Yang and Ising CFTs, where the first order estimate (3.28) generates the exact values.

One should think of $v^{-\Delta}H(u,v)$ as a trial crossing solution expanded around $\{u, v\} = \{0, 1\}$.²² The OPE convergence is rapid as the expansions are in the Euclidean regime.²³

The assumption in the truncation procedure is that the OPE coefficients of the subleading operators are much smaller than those of the low-lying operators. The low-lying operators are those with low twists τ and small scaling dimensions Δ .²⁴ Step 1 is about primary operators and the corresponding conformal multiplets, while Step 2 and Step 3 are about descendant operators. The physical CFTs should be the case due to the rapid OPE convergence.

From the matching conditions (2.34), we obtain a set of polynomial equations

$$\frac{1}{k!} \sum_{j=0}^{N} \sum_{n=0}^{M} (\Delta - \tau_j/2 - n)_k c_{i,j}^{m,n} = \sum_{\tau_{\mathcal{O}} \subset \{\tau_i\}} P_{\mathcal{O}} b_{m,k}(\tau_{\mathcal{O}}, \, l_{\mathcal{O}}, \, d),$$
(2.36)

$$i = 0, 1, \dots, N, \quad k = 0, 1, \dots, K - 2m,$$
(2.37)

where $b_{m,k}(\tau_{\mathcal{O}}, l_{\mathcal{O}}, d)$ are the series coefficients of the conformal block of the exchanged operator \mathcal{O} in d-dimensional spacetime (see appendix A) and $(x)_n$ is the Pochhammer symbol

$$(x)_n = \Gamma(x+n)/\Gamma(x). \tag{2.38}$$

We interpret these equations as a system of linear equations, where the unknowns correspond to the OPE coefficients $P_{\mathcal{O}}$ and the crossing symmetric function coefficients $c_{i,j}^{m,n}$. The coefficients of the linear system are polynomials of the scaling dimension Δ of the external scalar, the spectral data $\{\tau_{\mathcal{O}}, l_{\mathcal{O}}\}$ and the spacetime dimension d. The linear system is non-homogeneous due to the fixed OPE coefficient of the identity operator.

After choosing the truncated fusion rule and the twist cutoff M, the number of unknowns is fixed, so we can consider an appropriate descendant cutoff K which lead to enough equations to solve the unknowns.²⁵ If the determinant is non-zero, we can solve the linear system. The solutions are rational functions. In the fractions, the denominators are given by the same determinant and the numerators are linear combinations of the determinants of the minors.

In particular, the OPE coefficients are approximated by some rational functions²⁶ of the spectral data { Δ , $\tau_{\mathcal{O}}$, $l_{\mathcal{O}}$ } and the spacetime dimension *d*. Since we do not use any information of a specific CFT, the relations²⁷ between the OPE coefficients and the spectral

$$(u-a)^m (v-a)^n + (u-a)^n (v-a)^m, \quad m,n=0,1,2,\dots,$$
(2.35)

around the Euclidean crossing symmetric point $u = v = a \ge 1/4$.

²³The Euclidean regime is defined by $4u \ge (u - v + 1)^2$.

 $^{^{22}\}mathrm{A}$ countable basis for the crossing-symmetric functions is

²⁴Since the spin l of an operator is the difference between its scaling dimension Δ and twist τ , i.e. $l = \Delta - \tau$. The low-lying operators have low spins as well. We assume Δ and τ are bounded from below.

²⁵There might be several choices if the number of equations are slightly larger or smaller than that of the unknowns.

 $^{^{26}\}mathrm{A}$ rational function is a fraction of two polynomial functions.

 $^{^{27}\}mathrm{Note}$ that they are approximate relations because of the truncation procedure.

data are universal and model-independent! In other words, these relations should apply to different CFTs, as long as they are consistent with the truncated fusion rule.

In section 3 and section 4, we examine some concrete CFTs in various dimensions. It turns out that many physical CFTs are consistent with the minimal fusion rule

$$\phi_1 \times \phi_1 = I + \phi_2 + T, \tag{2.39}$$

where ϕ_1, ϕ_2 are scalar operators, I is the identity operator and T is the stress tensor.

Let us discuss a subtlety concerning the degeneracy of twist-0 operators. The fusion rules of two identical scalars always contain the identity operator. In d > 2, typically only the identity operator has a vanishing twist

$$\tau_I = 0. \tag{2.40}$$

In unitary CFTs, when d > 2, the twist spectra are gapped because of the unitary bounds

$$\Delta \ge \begin{cases} (d-2)/2, & \text{if } l = 0; \\ d-2+l, & \text{if } l > 0, \end{cases}$$
(2.41)

which translate into twist gaps between the identity operator and the exchanged operators

$$\tau \ge \begin{cases} (d-2)/2, & \text{if } l = 0; \\ d-2, & \text{if } l > 0. \end{cases}$$
(2.42)

In some non-unitary CFTs, such as the 3d Lee-Yang CFTs, the twist-0 state is also nondegenerate in the twist spectrum.

If the identity operator is the only operator with zero twist, we can deduce from the crossing equation (2.1) that G(u, v) and H(u, v) contain some universal terms

$$G(u, v) = 1 + \left(\frac{u}{v}\right)^{\Delta} + \dots, \quad H(u, v) = v^{\Delta} + u^{\Delta} + \dots,$$
 (2.43)

where the second terms correspond to operators in the twist family $\{\tau = 2\Delta\}$. In (generalized) free CFTs, all the exchanged operators are in the double-twist family. However, in interacting CFTs, we usually do not find operators with twists $2\Delta + 2n$. Therefore, in the crossing-symmetric function H(u, v), we will introduce a twist family $\{\tau = 2\Delta\}$, but impose the OPE coefficients in this double-twist family vanish when the descendant levels are lower than the cutoff K.

In 2d CFTs, both the identity operator, the stress tensor and many higher spin operators have zero twist, so it is possible that G(u, v), H(u, v) do not contain the universal terms. We will not introduce the double-twist family $\{\tau = 2\Delta\}$ in the study of 2d CFTs in section 3.

Before moving to a toy example of the truncation ansatz, we want to compare our truncation ansatz with Gliozzi's ansatz [77]:

- In both methods, the fusion rules are severely truncated. The use of fusion rule truncations in our approach is inspired by Gliozzi's work [77]. Our motivation is to better understand the effective descriptions of CFTs and their general structure in the spirit of Effective Field Theory. To our understanding, Gliozzi's main motivation is to extend the standard numerical bootstrap method beyond unitary CFTs using the determinant technique. Our method also applies to non-unitary CFTs.
- In our inverse approach, the crossing equation (2.1) is exactly solved by crossing symmetric functions. In Gliozzi's approach, the crossing equation (2.1) is approximately solved following the standard numerical approach [4]. In more details, our approach expands the crossing solutions around the conformal block boundary condition point (u, v) = (0, 1), while Gliozzi's approach expands the crossing equation (2.1) around the crossing symmetric point u = v = 1/4. As a result, our method involves polynomial equations, while Gliozzi's method deals with transcendental equations.

In addition, our approach requires many additional unknowns to parametrize the crossing symmetric function H(u, v). A related consequence is that we can consider even more severe truncations of the fusion rules than Gliozzi's method. But the number of unknowns grows much faster when we consider more operators.

2.3 Toy example: $\phi_1 \times \phi_1 = I + \phi_2$

Let us consider a toy example of the truncation ansatz. The truncated fusion rule reads

$$\phi_1 \times \phi_1 = I + \phi_2. \tag{2.44}$$

The absence of the stress tensor may seem unphysical,²⁸ but this truncation can be consistent when ϕ_2 is a relevant operator, i.e. $\Delta_2 < \Delta_T = d$. The truncation ansatz outlined above can be carried out explicitly. The result is simple but non-trivial.

We follow the three-step ansatz:

1. To begin with, the conformal invariant part of $\langle \phi_1(x_1)\phi_1(x_2)\phi_1(x_3)\phi_1(x_4) \rangle$ reads

$$G(u,v) = v^{-\Delta_1} \sum_{i,j=0,2} \sum_{m,n=0}^{\infty} c_{i,j}^{m,n} u^{\tau_i/2+m} v^{\tau_j/2+n}, \quad (i,m) \le (j,n),$$
(2.45)

where the possible values of τ_i are determined by the truncated fusion rule

$$\tau_0 = 0, \quad \tau_2 = \Delta_2.$$
 (2.46)

Here we use the 2d scheme without taking into account the issue of twist gaps. The crossing equation (2.1) implies that $v^{\Delta_1}G(u, v)$ should be a symmetric function in (u, v), so the coefficients $c_{i,j}^{m,n}$ satisfy the crossing symmetric conditions

$$c_{i,j}^{m,n} = c_{j,i}^{n,m}.$$
(2.47)

²⁸In generalized free CFTs, the stress tensor is usually absent from the OPEs.

2. In the second step, we set the twist cutoff to zero, namely

$$M = 0. \tag{2.48}$$

In other words, we truncate the crossing symmetric function to the lowest order in u, so G(u, v) has only 4 terms

$$G(u,v) = c_{0,0}^{0,0} v^{-\Delta_1} + c_{0,2}^{0,0} v^{\Delta_2/2 - \Delta_1} + c_{0,2}^{0,0} u^{\Delta_2/2} v^{-\Delta_1} + c_{2,2}^{0,0} u^{\Delta_2/2} v^{\Delta_2/2 - \Delta_1}, \quad (2.49)$$

where we have used the crossing symmetric condition

$$c_{2,0}^{0,0} = c_{0,2}^{0,0}.$$
 (2.50)

Let us introduce a simplified notation for this toy example

$$c_{i,j} = c_{i,j}^{0,0}. (2.51)$$

3. In the last step, let us set the descendant cutoff to be

$$K = 1, \tag{2.52}$$

then the number of equations is the same as the number of unknowns.

According to the descendant cutoff, we expand the crossing symmetric function around v = 1 to the first order

$$G(u,v) = a_{0,0} + a_{0,1}(1-v) + u^{\Delta_2/2} [a_{2,0} + a_{2,1}(1-v)] + \mathcal{O}[(1-v)^2], \qquad (2.53)$$

where $a_{i,j}$ are related to $c_{i,j}$ by

$$a_{0,0} = c_{0,0} + c_{0,2},$$

$$a_{0,1} = c_{0,0} \Delta_1 + c_{0,2} (\Delta_1 - \Delta_2/2),$$

$$a_{2,0} = c_{0,2} + c_{2,2},$$

$$a_{2,1} = c_{0,2} \Delta_1 + c_{2,2} (\Delta_1 - \Delta_2/2).$$

(2.54)

Then we require that G(u, v) reproduces the series expansions of the conformal blocks at low orders

$$G(u,v) = 1 + P_2 F_{\Delta = \Delta_2, l=0}(u,v) + \mathcal{O}[(1-v)^2]$$

= 1 + P_2 [1 + b_{0,1}(\Delta_2, 0, d)(1-v)] + \mathcal{O}[(1-v)^2], (2.55)

where from the series expansion of conformal blocks (see appendix A) we have

$$b_{0,1}(\Delta_2, 0, d) = \frac{\Delta_2}{4}.$$
(2.56)

There are 4 equations for 4 unknowns $\{P_2, c_{0,0}, c_{0,2}, c_{2,2}\}$. The linear system is given by

$$a_{0,0} = 1, \quad a_{0,1} = 0, \quad a_{2,0} = P_2, \quad a_{2,1} = P_2 \frac{\Delta_2}{4}.$$
 (2.57)

When the determinant is non-zero, i.e. $3\Delta_2 \neq 4\Delta_1$, the linear system (2.57) has a unique solution

$$c_{0,0} = 1 - \frac{2\Delta_1}{\Delta_2}, \quad c_{0,2} = \frac{2\Delta_1}{\Delta_2}, \quad c_{2,2} = \frac{2\Delta_1}{\Delta_2} \frac{4\Delta_1 - \Delta_2}{3\Delta_2 - 4\Delta_1},$$
 (2.58)

and

$$P_2 = \frac{4\Delta_1}{3\Delta_2 - 4\Delta_1}.$$
 (2.59)

The spacetime dimension d does not play a role because the series coefficients of a conformal block are d-independent at the lowest twist order (m = 0). The OPE coefficient P_2 is a simple rational function (2.59) of the scaling dimensions Δ_1, Δ_2 of the scalar operators.²⁹

If we use the scheme for d > 2 CFTs, the identity part in the crossing symmetric functions will be replaced by the double-twist power function with $\tau_0 = 2\Delta_1$. In addition, in the third step, the OPE coefficients for the double-twist block should vanish. With the same cutoff parameters (M, K) = (0, 1), we obtain a linear system and the solutions of $c_{i,j}$ are different. However, the solution of the OPE coefficient P_2 is the same as (2.59). The relation (2.59) is independent of which scheme is used.

The degenerate case $\Delta_2 = 4\Delta_1/3$ has a curious interpretation in 2d. In [82], the same relation for the scaling dimensions was found numerically using Gliozzi's determinant method. Then it was identified with the exact solution of a special Virasoro fusion rule $\phi_1 \times \phi_1 = \phi_2$, where the identity operator is absent. When Δ_1 is positive, the central charge is larger than one because $c = 1 + 16\Delta_1$. The decoupling of the identity operator is captured by the degeneracy condition in the toy example.

From the severely truncated fusion rule (2.44), we obtain a simple relation (2.59) for the conformal data P_2, Δ_1, Δ_2 . Given the scaling dimensions of ϕ_1, ϕ_2 , we can estimate the OPE coefficient P_2 using the model-independent, d-independent equation (2.59). In table 1, we compare some estimates from (2.59) with the known results. Although the estimate equation (2.44) is very simple, the first significant figures agree with these known values. In the case of (generalized) free CFTs, our estimate coincides with the exact value. In particular, the 3d estimates are surprisingly accurate.

If we increase the twist cutoff and the corresponding descendant cutoff, the estimates of P_2 become less accurate, which indicates some subleading operators should be taken into account.

3 2d minimal model CFTs

In two dimensions, the global conformal symmetry is extended to the infinite dimensional Virasoro symmetry. Exact solutions of some CFTs are known as their operator algebras

$$P_{2} = -\frac{\Delta_{1}}{(\Delta_{1} + v \,\partial_{v} - v \,\partial_{u})F_{\Delta_{2},0}(u,v)}\Big|_{u \to 1/4, v \to 1/4}.$$
(2.60)

However, this estimate equation is not as accurate as (2.59).

²⁹One may derive an analogous relation by directly expanding $v^{\Delta_1}[1+P_2 G_{\Delta_2,0}(u,v)]$ around the crossing symmetric point u = v = 1/4 and requiring the coefficients of (u - 1/4) and (v - 1/4) match. The result is a transcendental equation

P_2	free	$\phi^4~{\rm WF}$	2d LY	2d Ising	3d LY	3d Ising
estimate	2	$2-\epsilon$	-4	0.2	-4	1.0
exact/numerical	2	$2-2\epsilon/3$	-3.7	0.25	-3.9	1.1

Table 1. The estimates of the OPE coefficient P_2 from (2.59) and the known results from exact solutions [96, 104] or numerical conformal bootstrap [53, 77] in several CFTs. We only show two significant figures. Input parameters are the scaling dimensions of ϕ_1, ϕ_2 from the exact results [96, 104] or numerical conformal bootstrap [53, 77]. LY and WF stand for Lee-Yang and Wilson-Fisher. To derive the estimates of P_2 in the Lee-Yang CFTs, we only use the information that $\Delta_1 = \Delta_2$ and the analytic estimate is $P_2 = -4$. The relative errors in 3d interacting CFTs are smaller than those in 2d.

become finitely dimensional. In this section, we examine the 2d minimal models using our truncation ansatz.

In the 2d minimal models [104], the Virasoro primary operators $\phi_{r,s}$ are labeled by two integers (r, s). In general, a null state appears at level l = rs in the Verma module $V(c, \Delta_{r,s})$, where $\Delta_{r,s}$ are the scaling dimensions of the Virasoro primary operators $\phi_{r,s}$. Let us consider $\phi_{1,2}$ which has a null descendant at level 2. The 4-point function of $\phi_{1,2}$ satisfies a second order differential equation due to the level-2 null state. The general solution is a linear combination of two independent solutions. They correspond to two Virasoro conformal blocks from the Virasoro fusion rule

$$\phi_{1,2} \times \phi_{1,2} = \phi_{1,1} + \phi_{1,3} \,, \tag{3.1}$$

where $\phi_{1,1}$ is the identity operator. The scaling dimensions of $\phi_{1,2}$, $\phi_{1,3}$ are

$$\Delta_{1,2} = \Delta, \quad \Delta_{1,3} = \frac{2}{3}(1+4\Delta).$$
 (3.2)

A Virasoro conformal block can be decomposed into an infinite number of global conformal blocks in the same twist family. In particular, the Virasoro conformal block of the identity operator contains the stress tensor block, as the stress tensor is a Virasoro descendant of the identity operator.

There are two integration constants in the general solution of the 4-point function of $\phi_{1,2}$. One of them is fixed by the OPE coefficient of the identity operator. The ratio of the two constants is determined by the crossing equation (2.1). The explicit solution reads

$$G(z, \bar{z}) = F_{1,1}^{\text{Virasoro}}(z) F_{1,1}^{\text{Virasoro}}(\bar{z}) + P_{1,3} F_{1,3}^{\text{Virasoro}}(z) F_{1,3}^{\text{Virasoro}}(\bar{z}),$$
(3.3)

where the (anti-)holomorphic Virasoro blocks are

$$F_{1,1}^{\text{Virasoro}}(z) = (1-z)^{-\Delta} {}_{2}F_{1}\left[\frac{1-2\Delta}{3}, -2\Delta, \frac{2(1-2\Delta)}{3}; z\right],$$

$$F_{1,3}^{\text{Virasoro}}(z) = (1-z)^{\frac{1+\Delta}{3}} z^{\frac{1+4\Delta}{3}} {}_{2}F_{1}\left[\frac{2(1+\Delta)}{3}, 1+2\Delta, \frac{4(1+\Delta)}{3}; z\right], \quad (3.4)$$

the Virasoro OPE coefficient $P_{1,3}$ is

$$P_{1,3} = \frac{2^{1-\frac{8}{3}(1+\Delta)} \Gamma\left(\frac{2(1-2\Delta)}{3}\right)^2 \Gamma(1+2\Delta)^2 \left[\sin\left(\frac{\pi(1+16\Delta)}{6}\right) - \cos\left(\frac{\pi(1+4\Delta)}{3}\right)\right]}{\pi \Gamma\left(\frac{7+4\Delta}{6}\right)^2}, \quad (3.5)$$

and the variables z, \bar{z} are related to u, v by

$$u = z\bar{z}, \quad v = (1-z)(1-\bar{z}).$$
 (3.6)

In the crossing symmetric solution (3.3), we have a free parameter Δ . In unitary minimal models, it takes some positive rational values

$$\Delta = \Delta_{1,2} = \frac{1}{2} - \frac{3}{2(m+1)}, \quad m = 3, 4, 5, \dots$$
(3.7)

and the central charge reads

$$c = 1 - \frac{6}{m(m+1)}.$$
(3.8)

A more general way to parameterize Δ is

$$\Delta = \Delta_{1,2} = \frac{1}{8} \left[5 - c - \sqrt{(1 - c)(25 - c)} \right].$$
(3.9)

By extending the central charge c to a continuous parameter, we obtain an interpolating solution between unitary minimal models [14]. Non-unitary minimal models are also included where Δ are given by some rational numbers different from the unitary values.

Let us decompose G(u, v) into global conformal blocks

$$G = 1 + P_2 G_{\tau_2, l_2} + P_T G_{\tau_T, l_T} + P_3 G_{\tau_3, l_3} + \dots$$
(3.10)

and the global fusion rule corresponds to

$$\phi_1 \times \phi_1 = I + \phi_2 + T + \phi_3 + \dots \quad . \tag{3.11}$$

The global spectral data of the low-lying primary operators in the OPE are

$$\Delta_1 = \Delta_{1,2} = \Delta,$$
 $\Delta_2 = \Delta_{1,3} = \frac{2}{3}(1+4\Delta),$ (3.12)

$$\{\tau_2, l_2\} = \{\Delta_2, 0\}, \qquad \{\tau_T, l_T\} = \{0, 2\}, \qquad (3.13)$$

$$\{\tau_3, l_3\} = \{\Delta_2, 2\}. \tag{3.14}$$

Note that the identity operator I and the stress tensor T have the same twist, while the operators ϕ_2 , ϕ_3 also have the same twist.

The global OPE coefficients of the low-lying operators are

$$P_2 = P_{1,3},$$
 $P_T = \frac{\Delta(1+\Delta)}{2(5-4\Delta)},$ (3.15)

$$P_3 = -\frac{(1+\Delta)(2+5\Delta)(1-8\Delta)}{6(7+4\Delta)(5+8\Delta)}P_{1,3},$$
(3.16)

where $P_{1,3}$ is defined in (3.5).

	LY	m=3	m=4	m=5	m=6	m=7
P_2	-3.7	0.25	0.37	0.45	0.50	0.53
P_T/P_2	0.010	0.13	0.15	0.17	0.19	0.21
P_3/P_T	0	0	0.046	0.070	0.082	0.091

Table 2. The exact values or ratios of the OPE coefficients P_2 , P_T , P_3 in several 2d minimal models [104]. LY stands for the 2d Lee-Yang CFT. The parameter m indicates 2d unitary minimal models $\mathcal{M}(m+1, m)$. We only show two significant figures. $|P_T|$ are always smaller than $|P_2|$, while $|P_3|$ are much smaller than $|P_T|$. P_3 vanishes in the 2d Lee-Yang and Ising CFTs.

In table 2, we compare the exact OPE coefficients of some 2d minimal models. We can see the OPE coefficients of the stress tensor T are smaller than those of the leading scalar ϕ_2 , which explains the good estimates for the 2d CFTs in the toy example in section 2.3. There is a hierarchy in the OPE coefficients of the leading and subleading spin-2 operator $\{T, \phi_3\}$. From the ratios of the OPE coefficients, we expect the 2d Lee-Yang CFT can be easily truncated and the estimates for the 2d unitary minimal models are more accurate when m is small.

In section 3.1, we consider the minimal fusion rule in the 2d CFTs

$$\phi_1 \times \phi_1 = I + \phi_2 + T, \tag{3.17}$$

where ϕ_2 is assumed to be a scalar operator and T is the stress tensor. Instead of scanning the complete two dimensional parameter space $\{\Delta_1, \Delta_2\}$, we simply set the spectral data of ϕ_1 , ϕ_2 to (3.12), (3.13), so the parameter space becomes one dimensional.³⁰ Then we compare the estimates of the OPE coefficients P_2 , P_T from the truncation ansatz with the exact results (3.15).

The OPE coefficient P_3 of the spin-2 operator ϕ_3 has some interesting features. It vanishes at $\Delta = -2/5, -1, 0, 1/8$. These zeros are related to 2d minimal models $\mathcal{M}(5, 2)$ and $\mathcal{M}(m+1, m)$ with $m = 0, 2, 3.^{31}$ In particular, $\mathcal{M}(5, 2)$ and $\mathcal{M}(4, 3)$ correspond to the 2d Lee-Yang CFT and the 2d Ising CFT. In other words, the two physical CFTs can be identified from the decoupling of the subleading operator ϕ_3 . In section 3.2, we investigate this phenomenon in our truncation framework by adding operators to the minimal fusion rule.

$$G(u,v)\big|_{\Delta \to 0} = 1. \tag{3.18}$$

In the second case (m = 0), the scaling dimensions are $\Delta_1 = -1$ and $\Delta_2 = -2$. The 4-point function of ϕ_1 reduces to

$$G(u,v)|_{\Delta \to -1} = \frac{2}{3} [1 + u^{-1} + (u/v)^{-1}], \qquad (3.19)$$

so we have a non-unitary free theory $\mathcal{L} \sim \phi_1 \square^2 \phi_1$ and ϕ_2 is a composite operator $\phi_2 \sim \phi_1^2$.

0

³⁰We leave the complete scanning of the two-dimensional parameter space $\{\Delta_1, \Delta_2\}$ for future study.

³¹When $\Delta = 0$ or $\Delta = -1$, the OPE coefficient of the stress tensor P_T also vanishes, so these two cases are in some sense trivial or unphysical. In the first case (m = 2), $\phi_{1,2}$ becomes an identity operator $(\Delta = 0)$ and the 4-point function reduces to 1

3.1 Minimal fusion rule: $\phi_1 \times \phi_1 = I + \phi_2 + T$

Let us consider the minimal fusion rule

$$\phi_1 \times \phi_1 = I + \phi_2 + T \tag{3.20}$$

in the context of 2d CFTs. The identity operator and the stress tensor are in the same twist family $\{\tau_0 = 0\}$. The scalar operator ϕ_2 is in the second twist family $\{\tau_2 = \Delta_2\}$.

The conformal invariant part of the 4-point function becomes

$$G(u,v) = v^{-\Delta_1} \sum_{i,j=0,2} \sum_{m,n=0}^{M} c_{i,j}^{m,n} u^{\tau_i/2+m} v^{\tau_j/2+n},$$
(3.21)

where M is the twist cutoff.

We consider different approximation schemes:

• At the zeroth order approximation, we set the twist cutoff as

$$M^{(0)} = 0. (3.22)$$

Since we have one more unknown P_T than the toy example in section 2.3, we need one more equation. We increase the descendant cutoff of the twist family $\{\tau_0 = 0\}$ to $K_0 = 2$, because the new equation contains P_T . The solution of the linear system is

$$P_2^{(0)} = \frac{4\Delta_1}{3\Delta_2 - 4\Delta_1}, \quad P_T^{(0)} = \frac{1}{4}\Delta_1(\Delta_2 - 2\Delta_1). \tag{3.23}$$

The expression of P_2 is the same as the result (2.59) in the toy example. Let us substitute Δ_1 , Δ_2 with (3.12), then we have

$$P_2^{(0)} = \frac{2\Delta}{1+2\Delta}, \quad P_T^{(0)} = \frac{1}{6}\Delta(1+\Delta).$$
 (3.24)

• Then we consider the first order approximation where the twist cutoff becomes

$$M^{(1)} = 1. (3.25)$$

An appropriate descendant cutoff is

$$K^{(1)} = 3. (3.26)$$

The number of unknowns is 12 and the number of equations is $(4 + 2) \times 2 = 12$, so we can solve the linear system. Using the minimal model values (3.12), the solutions become

$$P_2^{(1)} = -\frac{12\Delta(-2+\Delta)(5+8\Delta)(-13+7\Delta+2\Delta^2)}{-670-1435\Delta+492\Delta^2+884\Delta^3-424\Delta^4+192\Delta^5},$$
(3.27)

$$P_T^{(1)} = \frac{\Delta(1+4\Delta)(-54-137\Delta+63\Delta^2+69\Delta^3+4\Delta^4)}{-670-1435\Delta+492\Delta^2+884\Delta^3-424\Delta^4+192\Delta^5}.$$
 (3.28)

P_2	LY	m=3	m=4	m=5	m=6	m=7	η
0th	-4	0.2	0.286	0.333	0.364	0.385	< 30%
1st	-3.70	0.243	0.353	0.415	0.454	0.481	< 10%
2nd	-3.62	0.246	0.364	0.434	0.479	0.511	< 5%
xact	-3.65	0.25	0.373	0.446	0.496	0.532	

Table 3. The estimates of the OPE coefficient P_2 at different approximation orders and their exact values. LY stands for the 2d Lee-Yang CFT. The parameters m indicate 2d unitary minimal models $\mathcal{M}(m+1,m)$. We only show three significant figures. The estimates are more accurate at high orders. The relative errors $\eta_2^{(i)}$ are defined as $|1 - P_2^{(i)}/P_2^{\text{exact}}|$. The relative errors increase as we consider larger Δ .

The denominators coincide because they are from the same determinant. Surprisingly, $P_T^{(1)}$ gives the exact values of the central charges of the 2d Lee-Yang and Ising CFTs.³²

• If we go to the second order

0t1s2nexa

$$M^{(2)} = 2, (3.29)$$

the appropriate descendant cutoff is

$$K^{(2)} = 5. (3.30)$$

We need to neglect one equation so that the numbers of equations and unknowns match. We consider two schemes: in the first one, we neglect the last equation (m = M, k = K) in the twist family $\{\tau_0\}$; in the second one, we omit the last equation (m = M, k = K) in the twist family $\{\tau_2\}$. The solutions turn out to be the same rational functions of Δ . They are denoted by

$$P_2^{(2)}, \quad P_T^{(2)}.$$
 (3.31)

Their explicit expressions are much more involved, so we will not write them down. The estimates for P_2 are improved, but the estimates for P_T are less accurate. The scaling dimensions associated with the descendant cutoff are already much higher than those of the operators in the truncated fusion rules, so we will not go to higher orders.

In table 3 and table 4, we compare the estimates at different approximation orders with the exact results. Using the minimal fusion rule, the first order approximations (3.27), (3.28) already give estimates of the OPE coefficients with less than 10%relative errors.

The truncated fusion rule is not restricted to the operator products of the lowest scalar operators. In fact, in many 2d minimal models, $\phi_{1,2}$ is not the primary operator with the lowest scaling dimension.

 $^{^{32}}$ In [15], as a warm-up example of the extremal functional method, similar estimates of the two OPE coefficients were discussed by numerically solving the truncated crossing equations. If we do not assume (3.12)and use the same input $\Delta_1 = 0.125$, $\Delta_2 = 1.03$ from [15], the first order approximation of P_2 is the same, but the approximate central charge $c \sim 0.48$ is closer to the exact value c = 0.5 than the estimate in [15] which is $c \sim 0.45$.

P_T	LY	m=3	m=4	m=5	m=6	m=7	η
$0 \mathrm{th}$	-0.04	0.023	0.04	0.052	0.061	0.068	<50% (not LY)
1st	-0.018	0.016	0.030	0.042	0.052	0.059	< 10%
2nd	-0.021	0.017	0.034	0.048	0.061	0.072	< 35%
exact	-0.018	0.016	0.029	0.039	0.048	0.055	

Table 4. The estimates of the OPE coefficient P_T at different approximation orders and their exact values. LY stands for the 2d Lee-Yang CFT. 2d unitary minimal models $\mathcal{M}(m+1,m)$ are denoted by m. We only show two significant figures. The optimal estimates are from the first order approximations. Surprisingly, the approximate equation $P_T^{(1)}$ in (3.28) generates the exact values in the cases of the 2d Lee-Yang CFT and the 2d Ising CFT. We suspect this is related to the decoupling of the spin-2 operator ϕ_3 . The relative errors $\eta_T^{(i)}$ are defined as $|1 - P_T^{(i)}/P_T^{\text{exact}}|$. In the first order approximation, the relative errors increase for larger Δ . However, the second order approximation is less accurate, which indicates the importance of subleading operators.

3.2 Operator decoupling

In the interpolating solution between 2d minimal models, the OPE coefficient P_3 of the subleading spin-2 operator ($\tau_3 = \Delta_2$) vanishes when Δ takes some special values. The zeros at $\Delta = -2/5$ and $\Delta = 1/8$ correspond to the 2d Lee-Yang CFT and the 2d Ising CFT.

We want to study the operator decoupling phenomenon in the truncation framework. It is necessary to introduce the subleading operators to the truncated fusion rules. The decoupling of the subleading spin-2 operator ϕ_3 provides alternative definitions of the 2d Lee-Yang CFT and the 2d Ising CFT.

3.2.1 2d Lee-Yang CFT

Let us introduce the subleading spin-2 operator ϕ_3 to the truncated fusion rule

$$\phi_1 \times \phi_1 = I + \phi_2 + T + \phi_3. \tag{3.32}$$

At the zeroth order, we set the twist cutoff as $M^{(0)} = 0$ and the corresponding descendant cutoff is $K^{(0)} = 2$. At the first order, the twist cutoff is $M^{(1)} = 1$ and the appropriate descendant cutoff is $K^{(1)} = 3$. In both cases, we need one more equation beyond the descendant cutoff. We always use the first equation beyond the descendant cutoff $\{m = 0, k = K + 1\}$ in the second twist family $\{\tau = \Delta_2\}$. We choose the second twist family because these equations involve P_3 , then the solutions of P_3 are more accurate. In figure 1, we compare the exact function of $P_3(\Delta)$ with the first-order and the second-order estimate functions.

According to the first order solution, the Lee-Yang value is determined by the polynomial equation

$$130 - 359\Delta - 2511\Delta^2 - 2099\Delta^3 - 128\Delta^4 + 192\Delta^5 = 0, \qquad (3.33)$$

and the approximate Lee-Yang root is

$$\Delta_{\rm 2d \ Lee-Yang}^{\rm estimate} \sim -0.401, \tag{3.34}$$



Figure 1. The exact values (blue) of the OPE coefficient $P_3(\Delta)$ as a function of the scaling dimension Δ of $\phi_{1,2}$ and its estimates in the zeroth (orange) and the first (green) order approximations. The qualitative behavior of the first order estimate is close to the exact function. The Lee-Yang root of the first order estimate is rather accurate.

where we only show three significant figures. The first order estimate of the Lee-Yang root is close to the exact value

$$\Delta_{\rm 2d \ Lee-Yang}^{\rm exact} = -0.4. \tag{3.35}$$

In figure 1, The first order estimate $P_3^{(1)}$ matches with the qualitative behavior of the exact solution. The estimate for the Ising value is $\Delta \sim 0.16$, which is not far from the exact value $\Delta = 0.125$. To improve the Ising estimate, we need to introduce the higher operators.

3.2.2 2d Ising CFT

To obtain a more accurate Ising root, we introduce one more primary operator ϕ_4 to the truncated fusion rule

$$\phi_1 \times \phi_1 = I + \phi_2 + T + \phi_3 + \phi_4. \tag{3.36}$$

The possible choices for ϕ_4 are

$$\{\tau_4, l_4\} = \{4, 0\}, \{0, 4\}, \{\Delta_2 + 4, 0\}, \{\Delta_2, 4\}.$$
(3.37)

From the exact solution, we know the third operator $\{\tau = \Delta_2 + 4, l = 0\}$ also decouples at the 2d Ising point ($\Delta = 1/8$), so we will not consider this possibility. The OPE coefficients of the other operators are in the same order of magnitude.³³

To improve the accuracy of the 2d Ising root, we increase the twist cutoff to the second order (M = 2). The number of unknowns is 25. The appropriate descendant cutoff is K = 5and the number of equations is $(6 + 4 + 2) \times 2 = 24$, so we need one more equation. We again use the first equation beyond the descendant cutoff (m = 0, k = K + 1) in the second

 $^{^{33}\}mathrm{In}$ principle, we should add all of them, but in this preliminary study we consider the minimal modification.



Figure 2. The exact values (blue) of the OPE coefficient $P_3(\Delta)$ as a function of the scaling dimension Δ and its second order estimates with different ϕ_4 operators: $\{\tau_4, l_4\} = \{4, 0\}$ (orange), $\{\tau_4, l_4\} = \{0, 4\}$ (green). The two approximate functions almost coincide when Δ is smaller than the Ising root. The estimate functions are close to the exact function between $\Delta = -0.05$ and $\Delta = 0.15$. The Ising roots are rather accurate in the second order approximations, but the Lee-Yang roots are less accurate than the first order result.

twist family $\{\tau = \Delta_2\}$. The solutions of P_3 are the same for the choices $\{\tau_4 = 4, l_4 = 0\}$ and $\{\tau_4 = \Delta_2, l_4 = 4\}$. As a result, we have two independent solutions corresponding to

$$\{\tau_4, l_4\} = \{4, 0\}, \{0, 4\}. \tag{3.38}$$

In figure 2, the exact function and two second order approximate functions of $P_3(\Delta)$ are presented. The Ising roots of the two estimate function are given by the same polynomial equation

$$39504\Delta + 280496\Delta^{2} + 331542\Delta^{3} + 91875\Delta^{4} - 45629\Delta^{5} - 25992\Delta^{6} - 1728\Delta^{7} + 512\Delta^{8} = 10080.$$
(3.39)

The numerical value of the approximate Ising root is

$$\Delta_{\rm 2d\ Ising}^{\rm estimate} \sim 0.1257,\tag{3.40}$$

where we only show 4 significant figures. The estimate value is close to the exact value

$$\Delta_{\text{2d Ising}}^{\text{exact}} = 0.125. \tag{3.41}$$

From the decoupling of the subleading operator ϕ_3 , we are able to obtain a rather accurate estimate of the 2d Ising scaling dimension in the truncation framework.

4 CFTs in various dimensions

In this section, we investigate CFTs in general dimensions in the truncation framework. In section 4.1, we derive the approximate relations corresponding to the minimal fusion rule. Then we examine these relations in the canonical free CFTs and the Wilson-Fisher CFTs. We also apply these relations to the Lee-Yang CFTs and the Ising CFTs in various dimensions.

4.1 Minimal fusion rule: $\phi_1 \times \phi_1 = I + \phi_2 + T$

We mainly consider the minimal fusion rule

$$\phi_1 \times \phi_1 = I + \phi_2 + T, \tag{4.1}$$

where I is the identity operator, $\{\phi_1, \phi_2\}$ are primary scalar operators and T is the stress tensor. Let us assume that only the identity operator has a vanishing twist

$$\tau_I = 0. \tag{4.2}$$

Then, from crossing symmetry, the identity term leads to a double-twist family $\{\tau = 2\Delta_1\}$ in the conformal partial wave expansion of G(u, v)

$$G(u,v) = 1 + \left(\frac{u}{v}\right)^{\Delta_1} + u^{\Delta_1} + \dots$$
 (4.3)

In the crossing symmetric function, we have two universal crossing-symmetric building blocks

$$H(u,v) = (v^{\Delta_1} + u^{\Delta_1}) + u^{\Delta_1}v^{\Delta_1} + \dots$$
(4.4)

The 4-point function of the fundamental scalar in a free theory contains only the universal part. The general form of the crossing symmetric function becomes

$$H(u,v) = v^{\Delta_1} + u^{\Delta_1} + \sum_{i,j} \sum_{m,n=0}^{M} c_{i,j}^{m,n} \, u^{\tau_i/2 + m} v^{\tau_j/2 + n}, \tag{4.5}$$

$$i, j = 0, 2, T, \quad (i, m) \le (j, n),$$

$$(4.6)$$

where the double twist family corresponds to i = 0, namely

$$\tau_0 = 2\Delta_1. \tag{4.7}$$

The coefficient of the second universal crossing symmetric building block indicates $c_{0,0}^{0,0} = 1$. However, since we only use the crossing equation (2.1), we will promote $c_{0,0}^{0,0}$ to a free parameter.

Due to the non-degeneracy of the twist-0 operator in the twist spectrum, there is only one twist-0 term v^{Δ_1} , corresponding to the identity operator. To simplify the notation, we use 0 to indicate the double-twist family and hopefully this notation will not lead to confusion.

Let us derive the estimate equations of the OPE coefficients P_2 , P_T using the minimal fusion rule:

• At the zeroth order, we set the twist cutoff as

$$M^{(0)} = 0. (4.8)$$

The appropriate descendant cutoff is

$$K^{(0)} = 2. (4.9)$$

The number of equations is slightly larger than the number of unknowns. We need to omit one equation.

1. In the first scheme, we omit the last equation (k = K) in the twist family $\{\tau = \Delta_2\}$. The solutions of the OPE coefficients are

$$P_2^{(0,1)} = \frac{4\Delta_1}{3\Delta_2 - 4\Delta_1}, \quad P_T^{(0,1)} = \frac{\Delta_1 \Delta_2 (\Delta_2 - 2\Delta_1)}{4(\Delta_2 + 2 - d)}.$$
 (4.10)

When d = 2, the OPE coefficients reduce to the 2d results (3.23).

2. In the second scheme, we neglect the last equation (k = K) in the double twist family $\{\tau = 2\Delta_1\}$. The zeroth order estimates of the OPE coefficients are

$$P_2^{(0,2)} = \frac{4\Delta_1}{3\Delta_2 - 4\Delta_1}, \quad P_T^{(0,2)} = \frac{\Delta_1 \Delta_2 (\Delta_2 - 2\Delta_1) (4\Delta_1 - 2\Delta_2 + 4\Delta_1 \Delta_2 - 3\Delta_2^2)}{8(2\Delta_1 + 2 - d)(4\Delta_1 - 3\Delta_2)(\Delta_2 + 1)}.$$
(4.11)

The d = 2 limit of P_T is different from that in (3.23).

3. In the third scheme, we omit the last equation in the twist family $\{\tau = d - 2\}$. However, the linear system has no solution because the equations do not contain P_T . This scheme is inconsistent.

We have two different schemes for the zeroth order approximation. The estimate equation $P_T^{(0,1)}$ in (4.10) works better than the more complicate equation $P_T^{(0,2)}$ in (4.11). In the examples, we only present the zeroth order estimates of (4.10) and then focus on the first order estimates.

• At the first order, we set the twist and the descendant cutoffs as

$$M^{(1)} = 1, \quad K^{(1)} = 4.$$
 (4.12)

The number of unknowns is 23, while the number of equations is $(5 + 3) \times 3 = 24$. To obtain a solution, we need to omit at least one equation. However, no general solution is found if only one equation is neglected, which means not all the equations are compatible with each other. This is related to the fact that we can solve P_2 , P_T using less than 23 equations. We consider three different choices:

1. In the first case, we decrease the descendant cutoff of the double twist family $\{\tau_0 = 2\Delta_1\}$ to $K_0^{(1)} = 3$. The solutions are denoted by

$$P_2^{(1,1)}, P_T^{(1,1)}.$$
 (4.13)

2. In the second case, we choose a lower descendant cutoff for the twist family $\{\tau_2 = \Delta_2\}$: $K_2^{(1)} = 3$. The solutions are given by

$$P_2^{(1,2)}, \quad P_T^{(1,2)}.$$
 (4.14)

3. In the third case, we lower the descendant cutoff of the twist family $\{\tau_T = d-2\}$ to $K_T^{(1)} = 3$. The solutions are

$$P_2^{(1,3)}, P_T^{(1,3)}.$$
 (4.15)

In each scheme, we use only 22 equations to solve the linear system. Although one $c_{i,j}^{m,n}$ remains arbitrary, the solutions of the approximate OPE coefficients P_2 , P_T are fixed. The free parameter can be determined using an appropriate equation beyond the descendant cutoff.

Due to the large number of unknowns in the linear system, the first order solutions are fractions of two high order polynomials. We will not write down their explicit expressions.

We mainly examine the first order estimates in the concrete examples

$$P_2^{(1,i)}, \quad P_T^{(1,i)}, \quad i = 1, 2, 3.$$
 (4.16)

Although we assume the twist-0 operators are non-degenerate, we also test these approximate relations in 2d CFTs. They give accurate estimates for the 2d OPE coefficients as well, which confirms our previous statement that the CFT data are insensitive to the choice of our basis functions.

4.2 Canonical free scalar theory

Let us consider the canonical free scalar field theory in general dimensions. The Lagrangian reads

$$\mathcal{L} = \frac{1}{2} (\partial \phi_1)^2. \tag{4.17}$$

In the 4-point function of ϕ_1 , the conformal invariant part G(u, v) is

$$G(u,v) = 1 + \left(\frac{u}{v}\right)^{\frac{d-2}{2}} + u^{\frac{d-2}{2}}$$
(4.18)

and the associated crossing symmetric function is

$$H(u,v) = v^{\frac{d-2}{2}} + u^{\frac{d-2}{2}} + (uv)^{\frac{d-2}{2}}.$$
(4.19)

Note that we do not assume d is an integer.

We can decompose G(u, v) into conformal blocks

$$G(u,v) = 1 + P_2 F_{\tau_2,l_2}(u,v) + P_T F_{\tau_T,l_T}(u,v) + \dots, \qquad (4.20)$$

where the fusion rule is

$$\phi_1 \times \phi_1 = I + \phi_2 + T + \dots, \tag{4.21}$$

and ϕ_2 is a composite operator

$$\phi_2 \sim (\phi_1)^2.$$
 (4.22)

The spectral data of the low-lying operators are

$$\{\Delta_1 = (d-2)/2, l_1 = 0\}, \{\Delta_2 = d-2, l_2 = 0\}, \{\tau_T = d-2, l_T = 2\}.$$
 (4.23)

All exchanged operators are in the double-twist family $\{\tau = 2\Delta_1\}$.

The exact values of P_2 , P_T as functions of the spacetime dimension d are

$$P_2 = 2, \quad P_T = \frac{d(d-2)^2}{16(d-1)}.$$
 (4.24)

Let us check the estimates of the OPE coefficients by substituting

$$\Delta_1 = \frac{1}{2}(d-2), \quad \Delta_2 = d-2 \tag{4.25}$$

into the approximate OPE coefficients from the truncation procedure.

The zeroth order estimates (4.10) give

$$P_2^{(0,1)} = 2, \quad P_T^{(0,1)} = \frac{(d-2)^2}{8}.$$
 (4.26)

The estimate of the OPE coefficient P_2 are exact, but that of P_T is not accurate. Now we move to the first order approximations. Surprisingly, all the first order estimates (4.13), (4.14), (4.15) give the exact values

$$P_2^{(1,i)} = 2, \quad P_T^{(1,i)} = \frac{d(d-2)^2}{16(d-1)}.$$
 (4.27)

Note that we do not make the assumption that the spacetime dimension d is an integer, so d is a continuous parameter. We do not consider generalized free theories because the stress tensor usually decouples and their fusion rules are not consistent with the minimal fusion rule.

4.3 ϕ^{2n} Wilson-Fisher CFTs

Since the first order approximations give the exact OPE coefficients of the free scalar theory, it is interesting to consider small deformations of the free CFTs. We now examine the Wilson-Fisher CFTs where the ϵ -parameter can be considered as a small deformation parameter. Note that we do not introduce global internal symmetry, so there is only one fundamental scalar operator in each case.

For ϕ^4 theory in $d = 4 - \epsilon$ dimensions [96], the conformal data of the low-lying operators are³⁴

$$\Delta_1|_{\phi^4} = 1 - \frac{\epsilon}{2} + \mathcal{O}(\epsilon^2), \qquad \Delta_2|_{\phi^4} = 2 - \frac{2}{3}\epsilon + \mathcal{O}(\epsilon^2) \qquad (4.28)$$

$$P_2^{\text{exact}}\big|_{\phi^4} = 2 - \frac{2}{3}\epsilon + \mathcal{O}(\epsilon^2), \qquad P_T^{\text{exact}}\big|_{\phi^4} = \frac{1}{3} - \frac{11}{36}\epsilon + \mathcal{O}(\epsilon^2). \qquad (4.29)$$

³⁴There is one more relevant operator, i.e. ϕ^4 , but its squared OPE coefficient is of higher order in ϵ . We will not consider its contribution.

The first order estimates (4.13), (4.14), (4.15) of the OPE coefficients gives

$$P_2^{(1,1)}\big|_{\phi^4} = 2 - \frac{59}{90}\epsilon + \mathcal{O}(\epsilon^2), \qquad P_T^{(1,1)}\big|_{\phi^4} = \frac{1}{3} - \frac{29}{108}\epsilon + \mathcal{O}(\epsilon^2), \qquad (4.30)$$

$$P_2^{(1,2)}\big|_{\phi^4} = 2 - \frac{85}{126}\epsilon + \mathcal{O}(\epsilon^2), \qquad P_T^{(1,2)}\big|_{\phi^4} = \frac{1}{3} - \frac{209}{726}\epsilon + \mathcal{O}(\epsilon^2), \qquad (4.31)$$

$$P_2^{(1,3)}\big|_{\phi^4} = 2 - \frac{59}{90}\epsilon + \mathcal{O}(\epsilon^2), \qquad P_T^{(1,3)}\big|_{\phi^4} = \frac{1}{3} - \frac{29}{108}\epsilon + \mathcal{O}(\epsilon^2), \qquad (4.32)$$

where the results of the first and the third schemes are different at the ϵ^2 order. If we keep only three significant figures of the numerical values, the OPE coefficients become

$$P_2^{\text{exact}}\big|_{\phi^4} = 2 - 0.667 \,\epsilon + \mathcal{O}(\epsilon^2), \qquad P_T^{\text{exact}}\big|_{\phi^4} = 0.333 - 0.306 \,\epsilon + \mathcal{O}(\epsilon^2), \qquad (4.33)$$

$$P_2^{(1,1)}\big|_{\phi^4} = 2 - 0.656 \epsilon + \mathcal{O}(\epsilon^2), \qquad P_T^{(1,1)}\big|_{\phi^4} = 0.333 - 0.269 \epsilon + \mathcal{O}(\epsilon^2), \qquad (4.34)$$

$$P_2^{(1,2)}\big|_{\phi^4} = 2 - 0.675 \,\epsilon + \mathcal{O}(\epsilon^2), \qquad P_T^{(1,2)}\big|_{\phi^4} = 0.333 - 0.276 \,\epsilon + \mathcal{O}(\epsilon^2), \qquad (4.35)$$

$$P_2^{(1,3)}\big|_{\phi^4} = 2 - 0.656 \,\epsilon + \mathcal{O}(\epsilon^2), \qquad P_T^{(1,3)}\big|_{\phi^4} = 0.333 - 0.269 \,\epsilon + \mathcal{O}(\epsilon^2). \tag{4.36}$$

The estimates of P_2 are close to the exact value, while those of P_T are slightly less accurate.

For ϕ^6 theory in $d = 3 + \epsilon$ dimensions, the scaling dimensions of the low-lying scalars are

$$\Delta_1\big|_{\phi^6} = \frac{1}{2} + \frac{1}{2}\epsilon + \mathcal{O}(\epsilon^2), \quad \Delta_2\big|_{\phi^6} = 1 + \epsilon + \mathcal{O}(\epsilon^2), \tag{4.37}$$

then, to the ϵ^1 -order, the approximate equations (4.13), (4.14), (4.15) in the three schemes give the same estimates

$$P_2^{(1,i)}\big|_{\phi^6} = 2 + 0\,\epsilon + \mathcal{O}(\epsilon^2), \quad P_T^{(1,i)}\big|_{\phi^6} = \frac{3}{32} + \frac{11}{64}\epsilon + \mathcal{O}(\epsilon^2), \tag{4.38}$$

where the ϵ^0 -order terms are the free OPE coefficients in 3d. To the ϵ^1 -order, the conformal data look like a canonical free scalar theory in $d = 3 + \epsilon$ dimensions. It will be interesting to check whether the corrections at the ϵ^1 -order are good estimates by computing P_2 , P_T in a different method.

We do not consider the ϕ^3 theory in $d = 6 - \epsilon$ dimensions due to the singular contribution in the conformal block of the exchange primary ϕ , which is induced by the conformal multiplet recombination $\Box \phi \sim \phi^2$. However, we can consider lower spacetime dimensions. We study the Lee-Yang CFTs in $2 \leq d < 6$ dimensions in section 4.4.

4.4 Lee-Yang CFTs in d = 2, 3, 4, 5 dimensions

The non-trivial fixed points of the ϕ^3 theory correspond to the Lee-Yang CFTs [105]. In the Lee-Yang CFTs, the two scalars ϕ_1, ϕ_2 coincide, so their scaling dimensions are equal to each other

$$\Delta_1 = \Delta_2. \tag{4.39}$$

The edge exponent σ is related to the scaling dimension of ϕ_1 by

$$\sigma = \frac{\Delta_1}{d - \Delta_1}.\tag{4.40}$$

	d=2	d=3	d=3	d=4	d=4	d = 5
$\sigma_{ m input}$	-1/6	0.076	0.085	0.259	0.2685	0.4105
$P_2^{(1,1)}$	-3.63	-3.90	-3.88	-2.82	-2.67	-0.858
$P_2^{(1,2)}$	-3.63	-3.90	-3.88	-2.80	-2.65	-0.807
$P_2^{(1,3)}$	-3.63	-3.90	-3.88	-2.83	-2.67	-0.859
$P_2^{\rm exact/numerical}$	-3.65	-3.91	-3.88(1)	-2.86	-2.72(1)	-0.95(2)

Table 5. The first order estimates of the OPE coefficient P_2 of the Lee-Yang CFTs in various dimensions and the exact value [104] or the numerical values from conformal bootstrap [77, 78]. We only show three significant figures of the estimates. The estimates are most accurate in three dimensional spacetime. The estimates in 5d seem to be the least accurate.

	d=2	d=3	d=3	d=4	d=4	d = 5
$\sigma_{ m input}$	-1/6	0.076	0.085	0.259	0.2685	0.4105
$P_T^{(1,1)}$	-0.016	0.0017	0.0024	0.070	0.082	0.31
$P_T^{(1,2)}$	-0.016	0.0017	0.0024	0.066	0.079	0.24
$P_T^{(1,3)}$	-0.016	0.0017	0.0024	0.071	0.083	0.31
$P_T^{\rm exact/numerical}$	-0.018	0.0023	_	0.13	_	_

Table 6. The first order estimates of the OPE coefficient P_T in various dimensions and the exact value [104] or the numerical bootstrap values [77]. The input data are from [77, 78]. Some of the numerical values are absent. We only show two significant figures of P_T . The 2d estimate is close to the exact value, but the 3d and 4d estimates are less consistent with the bootstrap results in [77].

In table 5 and table 6, we use the numerical values of the edge exponent in various dimensions to compute the estimates of the OPE coefficients P_2 , P_T . In 2d, we use the exact value of σ and compare with the exact OPE coefficients [104]. In higher spacetime dimensions, the input values are from [77, 78], then in table 5 we compare the estimate results with those in [77, 78]. If the input values of the edge exponent are accurate, the estimates of P_T are the predictions of our truncation ansatz.

In 3d and 4d, we consider two different sets of input values from [77, 78]. In 3d, the estimates of P_2 match with the numerical results particularly well. It seems the OPE coefficient P_2 in 3d is mainly determined by the edge exponent.³⁵ In contrast, the estimates of the stress tensor OPE coefficients are less close to the results in [77].

As the dimension of spacetime increases, the estimates are less consistent with the previous numerical results, which signals the importance of subleading operators. For instance, $|P_T|$ is much smaller than $|P_2|$ in 3d, but they are in the same order of magnitude in 5d.

³⁵Note that $|P_T/P_2|$ is very small in 3d, which explains the accuracy of the 3d estimates of P_2 .

	d=2	d=3
$(\Delta_1, \Delta_2)_{ ext{input}}$	(0.125, 1)	(0.5181, 1.413)
$(P_2, P_T)^{(0,1)}$	$(0.2, \ 0.023)$	$(0.96, \ 0.17)$
$(P_2, P_T)^{(1,1)}$	(0.254, 0.018)	(1.12, 0.12)
$(P_2, P_T)^{(1,2)}$	$(0.252, \ 0.018)$	(1.11, 0.11)
$(P_2, P_T)^{(1,3)}$	(0.254, 0.019)	(1.12, 0.12)
$(P_2, P_T)^{\text{exact/numerical}}$	(0.25, 0.016)	(1.11, 0.11)

Table 7. The estimates of the Ising OPE coefficient P_2 , P_T in 2d and 3d, the 2d exact values [104] and the 3d numerical bootstrap values [53]. We only show three significant figures of P_2 and two significant figures of P_T . The zeroth order equations are (4.10) and the first order equations are (4.13), (4.14), (4.15). The first order estimates for the OPE coefficients of the 3d Ising CFT are rather accurate.

4.5 Ising CFTs in d = 2, 3 dimensions

In this subsection, we want to test our estimate equations (4.13), (4.14), (4.15) in the Ising CFTs. The 2d Ising CFT corresponds to the 2d minimal model with m = 3, so its exact CFT data are known. The 3d Ising CFT is the most prominent example of the modern numerical bootstrap method, where the low-lying conformal data are determined to high precision [53].

In table 7, we present the estimates of the OPE coefficients P_2 , P_T by the zeroth order equations (4.10) and the first order equations (4.13), (4.14), (4.15). The estimates for the 3d Ising CFT are particularly accurate. The 2d estimates are slightly less accurate.

5 Discussion

In this work, we develop a novel approach to study conformal field theories using the conformal bootstrap. This approach is different from the standard method. Our starting point is the crossing symmetric functions, so the non-trivial crossing equation (2.1) is manifestly solved. Let us emphasize that, after introducing the cutoffs, the truncated crossing symmetric functions are studied in the Euclidean regime where the OPE convergence is rapid.

In this new perspective, we have a natural truncation ansatz in the crossing solution space. We focus on the minimal truncated fusion rule

$$\phi_1 \times \phi_1 = I + \phi_2 + T, \tag{5.1}$$

and derive some relations for the CFT data of the truncated spectrum. From these approximate relations, one can estimate the OPE coefficients using the scaling dimensions of two scalar operators. For instance, if one measures the scaling dimensions of the two scalars ϕ_1, ϕ_2 , we can predict the magnitude of the three point function coefficient of $\langle \phi_1 \phi_1 \phi_2 \rangle$. The prediction should be accurate if the coefficients of other three point functions $\langle \phi_1 \phi_1 \mathcal{O} \rangle |_{\mathcal{O} \neq \phi_2}$ are comparably small.

In section 4, we test the first order approximate equations (4.13), (4.14), (4.15) in several CFTs in various dimensions. The estimates of the OPE coefficient P_2 are particularly accurate and the estimates of P_T are consistent with the well-established results. In 2d CFTs, due to the absence of twist gaps, the structure of the crossing-symmetric functions is slightly different, so we have different estimate equations (see section 3.1). But the equations (4.13), (4.14), (4.15) also give rather accurate estimates of the 2d OPE coefficients. Therefore, the equations (4.13), (4.14), (4.15) are universal!

In section 3.2, the 2d Lee-Yang and the 2d Ising CFTs are identified in our truncation framework based on the phenomenon of operator decoupling. It will be very interesting to investigate the decoupling of subleading operators analytically in 3d CFTs, which was observed in the numerical bootstrap study of the 3d Ising CFT [20].

Let us stress that the estimate equations (4.13), (4.14), (4.15) work exceptionally well in 3d, i.e. in the 3d Lee-Yang CFT and the 3d Ising CFT. In the traditional analytic methods, 3d CFTs are the least accessible because they are far from the free theories in the ϵ -expansions and, unlike the 2d minimal models, they do not have exact solutions. The encouraging results suggest that we should further develop this approach to study the 3d CFTs systematically.

To improve the truncation ansatz, we need to understand why sometimes higher order approximations or longer truncated fusion rules do not give better estimates. We think this is related to the fact that the truncation ansatz is not a perturbation procedure where one expands the results in terms of some small parameters. By higher order, we instead mean the cutoffs are increased and the space of crossing symmetric functions is enlarged. In addition, all the operators in the truncated fusion rules are treated equally without using the information that the leading operators are more important.³⁶ As a result, after we introduce more operators to the fusion rules, the estimates for the leading OPE coefficients sometimes become less accurate, which can be traced back to the instability of the subleading operators. An interesting direction to be investigated is to develop a perturbation procedure where the OPE coefficients of the subleading operators are the small expansion parameters. A byproduct may be a better control of the error estimations. Note that we do not attempt to assign error bars in the present work.

It is also important to understand how to incorporate the O(N) models in our truncation framework. For example, in $\vec{\phi}^4$ theory, the OPE of two fundamental scalars ϕ_i , ϕ_j involves more than one relevant scalars: a singlet and a traceless tensor operators, corresponding to the composite operators $\vec{\phi}^2$ and $\phi_i \phi_j - \delta_{ij} \vec{\phi}^2/N$. In the minimal fusion rule, there is only one relevant scalar, so it seems that we need to extend the truncated fusion rule. The issue of mixed correlators also deserves investigation.

It would be interesting to consider the truncation framework in different coordinate systems or even different representation. For example, it was showed in [106] that the polar coordinate has better convergent properties. In the Mellin representation, the conformal blocks, which are infinite series in the position space, are instead related to polynomials of finite degrees [98, 107–111].

³⁶However, the estimate equations know the OPE coefficients of the leading operators should be larger. By leading operators, we mean operators of low scaling dimensions and low spins.

An ambitious direction is the extension to general quantum field theories without conformal symmetry. In the truncation procedure, we do not consider the high level descendants, but they play an important role in preserving conformal invariance. It seems the rapid OPE convergence is more crucial than conformal symmetry in this bootstrap method. It is natural to extend the inverse bootstrap approach to general QFTs.

For practical reasons, we mainly discuss the approximate results from the truncation procedure in this work. Now we switch to the discussion of exact results. If some CFTs share the same general solution of the crossing equations, they are connected by continuous deformations of the spectral data $\{\Delta_i, l_i\}$ and the spacetime dimension d, while the OPE coefficients are determined by crossing symmetry. The fact that many physical CFTs are consistent with the same approximate relations seems to indicate that they are connected to each other. One example is the Wilson-Fisher fixed points which smoothly connect free CFTs with interacting ϕ^n theories,³⁷ with the spacetime dimension d being the deformation parameter.³⁸ Another example is the interpolation between the 2d minimal models where the deformation parameter corresponds to the central charge. In both cases, the unitary CFTs are smoothly connected by some non-unitary CFTs.³⁹

Then we have two interesting questions. Are the general solutions of the crossing equations unique? If not, can we classify them? To address these two questions, we need to understand better the topology of the space of crossing symmetric functions, i.e. the solution space of the crossing equations. In a connected region, we expect the OPE coefficients share a universal formula as a function of $\{d, \Delta_i, l_i\}$, but one should distinguish the spectral data of the operator under consideration from the others.

A different, but more physical, classification will be based on the shortest, consistent truncation of a given fusion rule. Since in this work we only consider CFTs with single fundamental scalar operator in the Lagrangian descriptions, it is natural that the fusion rules with single relevant scalar are in the same "universality class". The unexpected feature is that the differences in discrete symmetries seem to be less crucial. Perhaps continuous symmetries are more important, as we have additional conserved currents. One of the simplest examples is the O(N) model discussed above.

Acknowledgments

I would like to thank Euihun Joung and Jin-Beom Bae for stimulating discussions. This work was supported by the National Research Foundation of Korea through the grant NRF-2014R1A6A3A04056670.

 $^{^{37}}$ In the works [112–119], some Wilson-Fisher fixed points are obtained by requiring smooth deformations from free theories.

³⁸Are different ϕ^n fixed points connected by the continuous deformation of n? The marginal deformation of a free theory $\mathcal{L} = \phi \Box^k \phi$ corresponds to n = 2d/(d-2k). Note that d is fixed in this footnote. The interpolation between 2d minimal models [14] may furnish an example.

³⁹See [120] for the non-unitary nature of CFTs in non-integer spacetime dimensions.

A Series expansion of conformal blocks

In this appendix, we summarize some relevant properties of the series expansion of conformal blocks [110, 121–125]. The twist and the spin of the exchanged primary operator \mathcal{O} are denoted by τ, l . The scaling dimension Δ is given by

$$\Delta = \tau + l. \tag{A.1}$$

We will use τ and l as the independent spectral data of the exchanged primary field.

The conformal invariant part of a four-point function can be decomposed into a sum of conformal blocks. The conformal block of the primary \mathcal{O} and its descendants has a double power series representation

$$F_{\tau,l}(u,v) = u^{\tau/2} \sum_{m,n=0}^{\infty} b_{m,n}(\tau,l,d) u^m (1-v)^n.$$
 (A.2)

The series coefficients at the lowest twist order (m = 0) have a closed form expression

$$b_{0,n}(\tau,l,d) = \frac{(\tau/2 + l - \Delta_{12}/2)_{n-l}(\tau/2 + l + \Delta_{34}/2)_{n-l}}{(n-l)!(\tau+2l)_{n-l}},$$
(A.3)

where Δ_{12} , Δ_{34} are defined by the scaling dimensions of the external scalar operators

$$\Delta_{12} = \Delta_1 - \Delta_2, \quad \Delta_{34} = \Delta_3 - \Delta_4, \tag{A.4}$$

 $(x)_n$ is the Pochhammer symbol

$$(x)_n = \Gamma(x+n)/\Gamma(x), \tag{A.5}$$

and $b_{0,n}(\tau, l, d)$ vanishes if n-l is a negative integer. From the quadratic Casimir equation of conformal blocks [125], when m > 0, the series coefficients $b_{m,n}$ satisfy a recursion relation

$$[m(2m+2n-d) + n(n-1) - l(l-1) + \tau(2m+n-l)]b_{m,n}$$

= $(\tau/2 + m + n - 1 - \Delta_{12}/2)(\tau/2 + m + n - 1 + \Delta_{34}/2)(b_{m,n-1} + b_{m-1,n})$
+ $2(n+2)(n+1)b_{m-1,n+2} - (n+1)(2m+3n+\tau - \Delta_{12} + \Delta_{34})b_{m-1,n+1}$ (A.6)

with

$$b_{m,n} = 0$$
, if $n < 0$ or $n < l - 2m$. (A.7)

From this recursion relation, the first two coefficients at each twist order also have closed form expressions

$$b_{m,l-2m} = \frac{(-1)^m (-l)_{2m}}{m! (l+d/2 - m - 1)_m},$$
(A.8)

and

$$b_{m,l-2m+1} = \frac{1}{2} b_{m,l-2m} (l + \tau/2 - m - \Delta_{12}/2 + \Delta_{34}/2 - \Delta_{12} \Delta_{34} \tilde{b}_{m,l-2m+1}), \quad (A.9)$$

with

$$\tilde{b}_{m,l-2m+1} = \frac{2m(l-1) + (l+1)(d-2) + \tau(2m-l-1)}{2(l-2m+1)(d-\tau-2)(2l+\tau)}.$$
(A.10)

If the external scalars are identical, the second coefficient has a simple expression

$$b_{m,l-2m+1}\Big|_{\Delta_{12}=\Delta_{34}=0} = \frac{(-1)^m (-l)_{2m}}{2(m!)(l+d/2-m-1)_m} (l+\tau/2-m) \,. \tag{A.11}$$

At high twist orders, the first few coefficients at each twist order vanish because l - 2m < 0. Then the first non-zero coefficients correspond to $b_{m,0}$.

To some extent, the spin l can be considered as a continuous parameter.

Open Access. This article is distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC-BY 4.0), which permits any use, distribution and reproduction in any medium, provided the original author(s) and source are credited.

References

- [1] S. Ferrara, A.F. Grillo and R. Gatto, Tensor representations of conformal algebra and conformally covariant operator product expansion, Annals Phys. **76** (1973) 161 [INSPIRE].
- [2] A.M. Polyakov, Nonhamiltonian approach to conformal quantum field theory, Zh. Eksp. Teor. Fiz. 66 (1974) 23 [INSPIRE].
- [3] A.A. Belavin, A.M. Polyakov and A.B. Zamolodchikov, Infinite conformal symmetry in two-dimensional quantum field theory, Nucl. Phys. B 241 (1984) 333 [INSPIRE].
- [4] R. Rattazzi, V.S. Rychkov, E. Tonni and A. Vichi, Bounding scalar operator dimensions in 4D CFT, JHEP 12 (2008) 031 [arXiv:0807.0004] [INSPIRE].
- [5] V.S. Rychkov and A. Vichi, Universal constraints on conformal operator dimensions, Phys. Rev. D 80 (2009) 045006 [arXiv:0905.2211] [INSPIRE].
- [6] F. Caracciolo and V.S. Rychkov, Rigorous limits on the interaction strength in quantum field theory, Phys. Rev. D 81 (2010) 085037 [arXiv:0912.2726] [INSPIRE].
- [7] D. Poland and D. Simmons-Duffin, Bounds on 4D conformal and superconformal field theories, JHEP 05 (2011) 017 [arXiv:1009.2087] [INSPIRE].
- [8] R. Rattazzi, S. Rychkov and A. Vichi, Central charge bounds in 4D conformal field theory, Phys. Rev. D 83 (2011) 046011 [arXiv:1009.2725] [INSPIRE].
- [9] R. Rattazzi, S. Rychkov and A. Vichi, Bounds in 4D conformal field theories with global symmetry, J. Phys. A 44 (2011) 035402 [arXiv:1009.5985] [INSPIRE].
- [10] A. Vichi, Improved bounds for CFT's with global symmetries, JHEP 01 (2012) 162
 [arXiv:1106.4037] [INSPIRE].
- [11] D. Poland, D. Simmons-Duffin and A. Vichi, Carving out the space of 4D CFTs, JHEP 05 (2012) 110 [arXiv:1109.5176] [INSPIRE].
- [12] S. Rychkov, Conformal bootstrap in three dimensions?, arXiv:1111.2115 [INSPIRE].
- S. El-Showk et al., Solving the 3D Ising model with the conformal bootstrap, Phys. Rev. D 86 (2012) 025022 [arXiv:1203.6064] [INSPIRE].

- [14] P. Liendo, L. Rastelli and B.C. van Rees, *The bootstrap program for boundary CFT_d, JHEP* 07 (2013) 113 [arXiv:1210.4258] [INSPIRE].
- [15] S. El-Showk and M.F. Paulos, *Bootstrapping conformal field theories with the extremal functional method*, *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **111** (2013) 241601 [arXiv:1211.2810] [INSPIRE].
- [16] F. Kos, D. Poland and D. Simmons-Duffin, Bootstrapping the O(N) vector models, JHEP 06 (2014) 091 [arXiv:1307.6856] [INSPIRE].
- [17] L.F. Alday and A. Bissi, The superconformal bootstrap for structure constants, JHEP 09 (2014) 144 [arXiv:1310.3757] [INSPIRE].
- [18] D. Gaiotto, D. Mazac and M.F. Paulos, Bootstrapping the 3d Ising twist defect, JHEP 03 (2014) 100 [arXiv:1310.5078] [INSPIRE].
- [19] M. Berkooz, R. Yacoby and A. Zait, Bounds on N = 1 superconformal theories with global symmetries, JHEP 08 (2014) 008 [Erratum ibid. 01 (2015) 132] [arXiv:1402.6068]
 [INSPIRE].
- [20] S. El-Showk et al., Solving the 3d Ising model with the conformal bootstrap II. c-minimization and precise critical exponents, J. Stat. Phys. 157 (2014) 869
 [arXiv:1403.4545] [INSPIRE].
- [21] Y. Nakayama and T. Ohtsuki, Approaching the conformal window of O(n) × O(m) symmetric Landau-Ginzburg models using the conformal bootstrap, Phys. Rev. D 89 (2014) 126009 [arXiv:1404.0489] [INSPIRE].
- [22] Y. Nakayama and T. Ohtsuki, Five dimensional O(N)-symmetric CFTs from conformal bootstrap, Phys. Lett. B 734 (2014) 193 [arXiv:1404.5201] [INSPIRE].
- [23] S.M. Chester, J. Lee, S.S. Pufu and R. Yacoby, The N = 8 superconformal bootstrap in three dimensions, JHEP 09 (2014) 143 [arXiv:1406.4814] [INSPIRE].
- [24] F. Kos, D. Poland and D. Simmons-Duffin, Bootstrapping mixed correlators in the 3D Ising model, JHEP 11 (2014) 109 [arXiv:1406.4858] [INSPIRE].
- [25] F. Caracciolo, A. Castedo Echeverri, B. von Harling and M. Serone, Bounds on OPE coefficients in 4D conformal field theories, JHEP 10 (2014) 020 [arXiv:1406.7845]
 [INSPIRE].
- [26] Y. Nakayama and T. Ohtsuki, Bootstrapping phase transitions in QCD and frustrated spin systems, Phys. Rev. D 91 (2015) 021901 [arXiv:1407.6195] [INSPIRE].
- [27] M.F. Paulos, JuliBootS: a hands-on guide to the conformal bootstrap, arXiv:1412.4127 [INSPIRE].
- [28] J.-B. Bae and S.-J. Rey, Conformal Bootstrap Approach to O(N) Fixed Points in Five Dimensions, arXiv:1412.6549 [INSPIRE].
- [29] C. Beem, M. Lemos, P. Liendo, L. Rastelli and B.C. van Rees, The N = 2 superconformal bootstrap, JHEP 03 (2016) 183 [arXiv:1412.7541] [INSPIRE].
- [30] S.M. Chester, S.S. Pufu and R. Yacoby, Bootstrapping O(N) vector models in 4 < d < 6, Phys. Rev. D 91 (2015) 086014 [arXiv:1412.7746] [INSPIRE].
- [31] D. Simmons-Duffin, A semidefinite program solver for the conformal bootstrap, JHEP 06 (2015) 174 [arXiv:1502.02033] [INSPIRE].
- [32] N. Bobev, S. El-Showk, D. Mazac and M.F. Paulos, Bootstrapping SCFTs with four supercharges, JHEP 08 (2015) 142 [arXiv:1503.02081] [INSPIRE].

- [33] F. Kos, D. Poland, D. Simmons-Duffin and A. Vichi, Bootstrapping the O(N) archipelago, JHEP 11 (2015) 106 [arXiv:1504.07997] [INSPIRE].
- [34] S.M. Chester et al., Accidental symmetries and the conformal bootstrap, JHEP **01** (2016) 110 [arXiv:1507.04424] [INSPIRE].
- [35] C. Beem, M. Lemos, L. Rastelli and B.C. van Rees, The (2,0) superconformal bootstrap, Phys. Rev. D 93 (2016) 025016 [arXiv:1507.05637] [INSPIRE].
- [36] L. Iliesiu et al., Bootstrapping 3D fermions, JHEP 03 (2016) 120 [arXiv:1508.00012] [INSPIRE].
- [37] D. Poland and A. Stergiou, *Exploring the Minimal* 4D $\mathcal{N} = 1$ SCFT, JHEP 12 (2015) 121 [arXiv:1509.06368] [INSPIRE].
- [38] M. Lemos and P. Liendo, Bootstrapping $\mathcal{N} = 2$ chiral correlators, JHEP **01** (2016) 025 [arXiv:1510.03866] [INSPIRE].
- [39] H. Kim, P. Kravchuk and H. Ooguri, *Reflections on conformal spectra*, JHEP 04 (2016) 184 [arXiv:1510.08772] [INSPIRE].
- [40] Y.-H. Lin, S.-H. Shao, D. Simmons-Duffin, Y. Wang and X. Yin, $\mathcal{N} = 4$ superconformal bootstrap of the K3 CFT, JHEP 05 (2017) 126 [arXiv:1511.04065] [INSPIRE].
- [41] S.M. Chester, L.V. Iliesiu, S.S. Pufu and R. Yacoby, Bootstrapping O(N) vector models with four supercharges in $3 \le d \le 4$, JHEP 05 (2016) 103 [arXiv:1511.07552] [INSPIRE].
- [42] S.M. Chester and S.S. Pufu, Towards bootstrapping QED₃, JHEP 08 (2016) 019
 [arXiv:1601.03476] [INSPIRE].
- [43] F. Kos, D. Poland, D. Simmons-Duffin and A. Vichi, Precision islands in the Ising and O(N) models, JHEP 08 (2016) 036 [arXiv:1603.04436] [INSPIRE].
- [44] Z. Komargodski and D. Simmons-Duffin, The Random-Bond Ising model in 2.01 and 3 dimensions, J. Phys. A 50 (2017) 154001 [arXiv:1603.04444] [INSPIRE].
- [45] Y. Nakayama, Bootstrap bound for conformal multi-flavor QCD on lattice, JHEP 07 (2016)
 038 [arXiv:1605.04052] [INSPIRE].
- [46] S. El-Showk and M.F. Paulos, *Extremal bootstrapping: go with the flow*, arXiv:1605.08087 [INSPIRE].
- [47] Z. Li and N. Su, Bootstrapping mixed correlators in the five dimensional critical O(N) models, JHEP 04 (2017) 098 [arXiv:1607.07077] [INSPIRE].
- [48] Y. Pang, J. Rong and N. Su, ϕ^3 theory with F_4 flavor symmetry in $6 2\epsilon$ dimensions: 3-loop renormalization and conformal bootstrap, JHEP **12** (2016) 057 [arXiv:1609.03007] [INSPIRE].
- [49] Y.-H. Lin, S.-H. Shao, Y. Wang and X. Yin, (2,2) superconformal bootstrap in two dimensions, JHEP 05 (2017) 112 [arXiv:1610.05371] [INSPIRE].
- [50] M. Lemos, P. Liendo, C. Meneghelli and V. Mitev, Bootstrapping $\mathcal{N} = 3$ superconformal theories, JHEP 04 (2017) 032 [arXiv:1612.01536] [INSPIRE].
- [51] C. Beem, L. Rastelli and B.C. van Rees, More $\mathcal{N} = 4$ superconformal bootstrap, Phys. Rev. **D** 96 (2017) 046014 [arXiv:1612.02363] [INSPIRE].
- [52] D. Mazac, Analytic bounds and emergence of AdS₂ physics from the conformal bootstrap, JHEP 04 (2017) 146 [arXiv:1611.10060] [INSPIRE].

- [53] D. Simmons-Duffin, The lightcone bootstrap and the spectrum of the 3d Ising CFT, JHEP
 03 (2017) 086 [arXiv:1612.08471] [INSPIRE].
- [54] L. Iliesiu, F. Kos, D. Poland, S.S. Pufu and D. Simmons-Duffin, Bootstrapping 3D fermions with global symmetries, arXiv:1705.03484 [INSPIRE].
- [55] A. Dymarsky, J. Penedones, E. Trevisani and A. Vichi, *Charting the space of 3D CFTs with a continuous global symmetry*, arXiv:1705.04278 [INSPIRE].
- [56] C.-M. Chang and Y.-H. Lin, Carging out the end of the world or (superconformal bootstrap in six dimensions), JHEP 08 (2017) 128 [arXiv:1705.05392] [INSPIRE].
- [57] J.M. Maldacena, The large-N limit of superconformal field theories and supergravity, Int. J. Theor. Phys. 38 (1999) 1113 [Adv. Theor. Math. Phys. 2 (1998) 231] [hep-th/9711200]
 [INSPIRE].
- [58] S.S. Gubser, I.R. Klebanov and A.M. Polyakov, Gauge theory correlators from noncritical string theory, Phys. Lett. B 428 (1998) 105 [hep-th/9802109] [INSPIRE].
- [59] E. Witten, Anti-de Sitter space and holography, Adv. Theor. Math. Phys. 2 (1998) 253
 [hep-th/9802150] [INSPIRE].
- [60] A.L. Fitzpatrick, E. Katz, D. Poland and D. Simmons-Duffin, *Effective conformal theory* and the flat-space limit of AdS, JHEP **07** (2011) 023 [arXiv:1007.2412] [INSPIRE].
- [61] D. Pappadopulo, S. Rychkov, J. Espin and R. Rattazzi, OPE convergence in conformal field theory, Phys. Rev. D 86 (2012) 105043 [arXiv:1208.6449] [INSPIRE].
- [62] S. Rychkov and P. Yvernay, Remarks on the convergence properties of the conformal block expansion, Phys. Lett. B 753 (2016) 682 [arXiv:1510.08486] [INSPIRE].
- [63] A.L. Fitzpatrick, J. Kaplan, D. Poland and D. Simmons-Duffin, *The analytic bootstrap and* AdS superhorizon locality, JHEP **12** (2013) 004 [arXiv:1212.3616] [INSPIRE].
- [64] Z. Komargodski and A. Zhiboedov, Convexity and liberation at large spin, JHEP 11 (2013) 140 [arXiv:1212.4103] [INSPIRE].
- [65] G. Vos, Generalized additivity in unitary conformal field theories, Nucl. Phys. B 899 (2015)
 91 [arXiv:1411.7941] [INSPIRE].
- [66] A. Kaviraj, K. Sen and A. Sinha, Analytic bootstrap at large spin, JHEP 11 (2015) 083 [arXiv:1502.01437] [INSPIRE].
- [67] L.F. Alday, A. Bissi and T. Lukowski, Large spin systematics in CFT, JHEP 11 (2015) 101 [arXiv:1502.07707] [INSPIRE].
- [68] A. Kaviraj, K. Sen and A. Sinha, Universal anomalous dimensions at large spin and large twist, JHEP 07 (2015) 026 [arXiv:1504.00772] [INSPIRE].
- [69] L.F. Alday and A. Zhiboedov, Conformal bootstrap with slightly broken higher spin symmetry, JHEP 06 (2016) 091 [arXiv:1506.04659] [INSPIRE].
- [70] L.F. Alday and A. Zhiboedov, An algebraic approach to the analytic bootstrap, JHEP 04 (2017) 157 [arXiv:1510.08091] [INSPIRE].
- [71] P. Dey, A. Kaviraj and K. Sen, More on analytic bootstrap for O(N) models, JHEP 06 (2016) 136 [arXiv:1602.04928] [INSPIRE].
- [72] L.F. Alday and A. Bissi, Crossing symmetry and higher spin towers, JHEP 12 (2017) 118
 [arXiv:1603.05150] [INSPIRE].

- [73] L.F. Alday, Large spin perturbation theory for conformal field theories, Phys. Rev. Lett. 119 (2017) 111601 [arXiv:1611.01500] [INSPIRE].
- [74] L.F. Alday, Solving CFTs with weakly broken higher spin symmetry, JHEP 10 (2017) 161 [arXiv:1612.00696] [INSPIRE].
- [75] M.A. Shifman, A.I. Vainshtein and V.I. Zakharov, QCD and resonance physics. Theoretical foundations, Nucl. Phys. B 147 (1979) 385 [INSPIRE].
- [76] M.A. Shifman, A.I. Vainshtein and V.I. Zakharov, QCD and resonance physics: applications, Nucl. Phys. B 147 (1979) 448 [INSPIRE].
- [77] F. Gliozzi, More constraining conformal bootstrap, Phys. Rev. Lett. 111 (2013) 161602 [arXiv:1307.3111] [INSPIRE].
- [78] F. Gliozzi and A. Rago, Critical exponents of the 3d Ising and related models from conformal bootstrap, JHEP 10 (2014) 042 [arXiv:1403.6003] [INSPIRE].
- [79] F. Gliozzi, P. Liendo, M. Meineri and A. Rago, Boundary and interface CFTs from the conformal bootstrap, JHEP 05 (2015) 036 [arXiv:1502.07217] [INSPIRE].
- [80] Y. Nakayama, Bootstrapping critical Ising model on three-dimensional real projective space, Phys. Rev. Lett. 116 (2016) 141602 [arXiv:1601.06851] [INSPIRE].
- [81] F. Gliozzi, Truncatable bootstrap equations in algebraic form and critical surface exponents, JHEP 10 (2016) 037 [arXiv:1605.04175] [INSPIRE].
- [82] I. Esterlis, A.L. Fitzpatrick and D. Ramirez, Closure of the operator product expansion in the non-unitary bootstrap, JHEP 11 (2016) 030 [arXiv:1606.07458] [INSPIRE].
- [83] L.A. Takhtajan and L.D. Faddeev, The quantum method of the inverse problem and the Heisenberg XYZ model, Russ. Math. Surveys 34 (1979) 11 [Usp. Mat. Nauk 34 (1979) 13].
- [84] C.-N. Yang, Some exact results for the many body problems in one dimension with repulsive delta function interaction, Phys. Rev. Lett. 19 (1967) 1312 [INSPIRE].
- [85] R.J. Baxter, Partition function of the eight vertex lattice model, Ann. Phys. 70 (1972) 193
 [Ann. Phys. 281 (2000) 187] [INSPIRE].
- [86] A. Gadde, In search of conformal theories, arXiv:1702.07362 [INSPIRE].
- [87] M. Hogervorst and B.C. van Rees, Crossing symmetry in alpha space, JHEP 11 (2017) 193 [arXiv:1702.08471] [INSPIRE].
- [88] M. Hogervorst, Crossing kernels for boundary and crosscap CFTs, arXiv:1703.08159 [INSPIRE].
- [89] K. Sen and A. Sinha, On critical exponents without Feynman diagrams, J. Phys. A 49 (2016) 445401 [arXiv:1510.07770] [INSPIRE].
- [90] R. Gopakumar, A. Kaviraj, K. Sen and A. Sinha, Conformal bootstrap in Mellin space, Phys. Rev. Lett. 118 (2017) 081601 [arXiv:1609.00572] [INSPIRE].
- [91] R. Gopakumar, A. Kaviraj, K. Sen and A. Sinha, A Mellin space approach to the conformal bootstrap, JHEP 05 (2017) 027 [arXiv:1611.08407] [INSPIRE].
- [92] P. Dey, A. Kaviraj and A. Sinha, Mellin space bootstrap for global symmetry, JHEP 07 (2017) 019 [arXiv:1612.05032] [INSPIRE].
- [93] B. Eden, C. Schubert and E. Sokatchev, Three loop four point correlator in N = 4 SYM, Phys. Lett. B 482 (2000) 309 [hep-th/0003096] [INSPIRE].

- [94] M. Bianchi, S. Kovacs, G. Rossi and Y.S. Stanev, Anomalous dimensions in N = 4 SYM theory at order g⁴, Nucl. Phys. B 584 (2000) 216 [hep-th/0003203] [INSPIRE].
- [95] M. Bianchi, S. Kovacs, G. Rossi and Y.S. Stanev, Properties of the Konishi multiplet in N = 4 SYM theory, JHEP 05 (2001) 042 [hep-th/0104016] [INSPIRE].
- [96] K.G. Wilson and M.E. Fisher, Critical exponents in 3.99 dimensions, Phys. Rev. Lett. 28 (1972) 240 [INSPIRE].
- [97] G. Veneziano, Construction of a crossing-symmetric, Regge behaved amplitude for linearly rising trajectories, Nuovo Cim. A 57 (1968) 190 [INSPIRE].
- [98] G. Mack, D-independent representation of conformal field theories in D dimensions via transformation to auxiliary dual resonance models. Scalar amplitudes, arXiv:0907.2407 [INSPIRE].
- [99] L. Rastelli and X. Zhou, Mellin amplitudes for $AdS_5 \times S^5$, Phys. Rev. Lett. 118 (2017) 091602 [arXiv:1608.06624] [INSPIRE].
- [100] G. Arutyunov and S. Frolov, Four point functions of lowest weight CPOs in N = 4 SYM(4) in supergravity approximation, Phys. Rev. D 62 (2000) 064016 [hep-th/0002170] [INSPIRE].
- [101] G. Arutyunov, F.A. Dolan, H. Osborn and E. Sokatchev, Correlation functions and massive Kaluza-Klein modes in the AdS/CFT correspondence, Nucl. Phys. B 665 (2003) 273
 [hep-th/0212116] [INSPIRE].
- [102] G. Arutyunov and E. Sokatchev, On a large-N degeneracy in N = 4 SYM and the AdS/CFT correspondence, Nucl. Phys. B 663 (2003) 163 [hep-th/0301058] [INSPIRE].
- [103] F.A. Dolan, M. Nirschl and H. Osborn, Conjectures for large-N superconformal N = 4 chiral primary four point functions, Nucl. Phys. B 749 (2006) 109 [hep-th/0601148]
 [INSPIRE].
- [104] P. Di Francesco, P. Mathieu and D. Senechal, *Conformal field theory*, Springer, Germany (1996).
- [105] M.E. Fisher, Yang-Lee edge singularity and ϕ^3 field theory, Phys. Rev. Lett. **40** (1978) 1610 [INSPIRE].
- [106] M. Hogervorst and S. Rychkov, Radial coordinates for conformal blocks, Phys. Rev. D 87 (2013) 106004 [arXiv:1303.1111] [INSPIRE].
- [107] J. Penedones, Writing CFT correlation functions as AdS scattering amplitudes, JHEP 03 (2011) 025 [arXiv:1011.1485] [INSPIRE].
- [108] A.L. Fitzpatrick, J. Kaplan, J. Penedones, S. Raju and B.C. van Rees, A natural language for AdS/CFT correlators, JHEP 11 (2011) 095 [arXiv:1107.1499] [INSPIRE].
- [109] M.F. Paulos, Towards Feynman rules for Mellin amplitudes, JHEP 10 (2011) 074 [arXiv:1107.1504] [INSPIRE].
- [110] F.A. Dolan and H. Osborn, Conformal partial waves: further mathematical results, arXiv:1108.6194 [INSPIRE].
- [111] A.L. Fitzpatrick and J. Kaplan, AdS field theory from conformal field theory, JHEP 02 (2013) 054 [arXiv:1208.0337] [INSPIRE].
- [112] S. Rychkov and Z.M. Tan, The ε-expansion from conformal field theory, J. Phys. A 48 (2015) 29FT01 [arXiv:1505.00963] [INSPIRE].

- [113] P. Basu and C. Krishnan, ε-expansions near three dimensions from conformal field theory, JHEP 11 (2015) 040 [arXiv:1506.06616] [INSPIRE].
- [114] S. Ghosh, R.K. Gupta, K. Jaswin and A.A. Nizami, ε-Expansion in the Gross-Neveu model from conformal field theory, JHEP 03 (2016) 174 [arXiv:1510.04887] [INSPIRE].
- [115] A. Raju, ε-expansion in the Gross-Neveu CFT, JHEP 10 (2016) 097 [arXiv:1510.05287]
 [INSPIRE].
- [116] K. Nii, Classical equation of motion and anomalous dimensions at leading order, JHEP 07 (2016) 107 [arXiv:1605.08868] [INSPIRE].
- [117] C. Hasegawa and Yu. Nakayama, ϵ -expansion in critical ϕ^3 -theory on real projective space from conformal field theory, Mod. Phys. Lett. A 32 (2017) 1750045 [arXiv:1611.06373] [INSPIRE].
- [118] F. Gliozzi, A. Guerrieri, A.C. Petkou and C. Wen, Generalized Wilson-Fisher critical points from the conformal operator product expansion, Phys. Rev. Lett. 118 (2017) 061601 [arXiv:1611.10344] [INSPIRE].
- [119] F. Gliozzi, A.L. Guerrieri, A.C. Petkou and C. Wen, The analytic structure of conformal blocks and the generalized Wilson-Fisher fixed points, JHEP 04 (2017) 056 [arXiv:1702.03938] [INSPIRE].
- [120] M. Hogervorst, S. Rychkov and B.C. van Rees, Unitarity violation at the Wilson-Fisher fixed point in 4ϵ dimensions, Phys. Rev. D 93 (2016) 125025 [arXiv:1512.00013] [INSPIRE].
- [121] S. Ferrara, A.F. Grillo, G. Parisi and R. Gatto, Covariant expansion of the conformal four-point function, Nucl. Phys. B 49 (1972) 77 [Erratum ibid. B 53 (1973) 643] [INSPIRE].
- [122] S. Ferrara, A.F. Grillo, R. Gatto and G. Parisi, Analyticity properties and asymptotic expansions of conformal covariant green's functions, Nuovo Cim. A 19 (1974) 667 [INSPIRE].
- [123] S. Ferrara, R. Gatto and A.F. Grillo, Properties of partial wave amplitudes in conformal invariant field theories, Nuovo Cim. A 26 (1975) 226 [INSPIRE].
- [124] F.A. Dolan and H. Osborn, Conformal four point functions and the operator product expansion, Nucl. Phys. B 599 (2001) 459 [hep-th/0011040] [INSPIRE].
- [125] F.A. Dolan and H. Osborn, Conformal partial waves and the operator product expansion, Nucl. Phys. B 678 (2004) 491 [hep-th/0309180] [INSPIRE].